Trends in Wellbeing for Māori Households/Families, 1981–2006



October 2010



TRENDS IN Wellbeing For Māori Households/ Families, 1981–2006

Cynthia Kiro* School of Public Health, Massey University

Martin von Randow Centre of Methods and Policy Application in the Social Sciences (COMPASS), The University of Auckland

Andrew Sporle Department of Statistics, The University of Auckland

Family Whānau and Wellbeing Project

FWWP was a 5-year research programme supported by the Social Science funding pool of the Foundation for Research, Science and Technology (FRST). The principal goal of this programme was to develop ways to examine and monitor the social and economic determinants of family and whānau wellbeing and how these changed over the 1981–2006 period. These results presented in this research report, funded by Ngā Pae o te Māramatanga, draw on the work of FWWP and use the same wellbeing indicators to analyse different aspects of Māori family wellbeing.

*Correspondence to Cynthia Kiro: c.a.kiro@massey.ac.nz

CONTENTS

	Exe	cutive summary	9
1	INT	FRODUCTION	12
	1.1	Background	12
	1.2	Overview	13
		1.2.1 Report overview	13
		1.2.2 Family Whānau and Wellbeing Project (FWWP)	13
	1.3	Report structure	13
	1.4	Data source and data access	14
		1.4.1 Information from other official sample survey datasets	14
		1.4.2 Information from public good funded research projects	14
	1.5	Classifying families and households	14
	1.6	Determining the ethnicity of households	16
	1.7	Measuring the wellbeing of 'Māori' households	17
		1.7.1 Wellbeing indicators	18
	1.8	Household types and the presentation of results	19
2	СН	ANGES IN MĀORI HOUSEHOLD COMPOSITION OVER TIME	20
	2.1	Usual household composition	20
•	011		
3		ANGES IN FAMILY WELLBEING FOR	22
	MA	IORI FAMILIES, 1981–2006	22
	3.1	2.1.1. Environting the group	22
		3.1.1 Equivalised income	22
	2.2	5.1.2 Low income	25
	3.2	Education	23
		2.2.2. Dest accordance durational attainment	23
	~ ~	S.2.2 Post-secondary educational attainment	2/
	5.5	WORK	20
		2.2.2. Long working hours	20
	24	S.S.2 Long working hours	20 20
	5.4	2.4.1. Home ownership	20
		2.4.2 Pointed offendability	30 22
		2.4.2 Crowding	33 24
	25	J.H.J Crowding	34 25
	5.5	realline 2.5.1. Health related herefts	33 25
			~ *
		2.5.2. Smolving	27

4	DIS	CUSSION	40
	4.1	Changes in household composition	40
	4.2	Summary of changes in wellbeing for each domain	42
		4.2.1 Income	42
		4.2.2 Education	46
		4.2.3 Work	47
		4.2.4 Housing	49
	4.3	Health	50
		4.3.1 Frequency of face-to-face contact with family members living in other	
		households	50
	4.4	Māori in Australia	51
	4.5	Strengths and limitations of the study	51
	4.6	Conclusion	52
RE	FER	ENCES	53
AP	PEN	DIX A. WORKING WITH DATA FROM THE CENSUS	56
AP	PEN	DIX B. USING CENSUS DATA TO MEASURE WELLBEING	57
	B. 1	Median equivalised income – Revised Jensen Scale	58
	B.2	Household crowding index	58
AP	PEN	DIX C. WELLBEING INDICATORS FOR THE REMAINDER	
OF	TH	E POPULATION	59
AP	PEN	DIX D. INCOME AND INEQUALITY 2008 SUMMARY FINDINGS	62

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Table 1.2:	Census usual household composition categories and report household types Wellbeing indicators presented	16 18
Table 2.1:	Distribution of composition of Māori households as at census years 1981–2006	20
Table 3.1:	Median equivalised household income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult	22
Table 3.2:	Median equivalised household income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults	22
Table 3.3:	Low income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult	24
Table 3.4:	Low income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults	24
Table 3.5:	Lack of any educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult	25
Table 3.6:	Lack of any educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults	26
Table 3.7:	Lack of post-secondary educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult	27
Table 3.8:	Lack of post-secondary educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults	27
Table 3.9:	Lack of paid employment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult	28
Table 3.10:	Lack of paid employment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults	29
Table 3.11:	Long working hours, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult	30
Table 3.12:	Long working hours, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults	30
Table 3.13:	Lack of home ownership, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult	31
Table 3.14:	Lack of home ownership, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults	32
Table 3.15:	Low rental affordability, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult, living in rented dwellings	33
Table 3.16:	Low rental affordability, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults, living in rented dwellings	33

LIST OF TABLES	
----------------	--

Table 3.17: Crowding,	by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one	24
Maori adul		34
Table 3.18: Crowding,Māori adul	by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two	34
Table 3.19: Health-rela	ted benefits, by household category, 1981–2006, for households	
with one M	lāori adult	36
Table 3.20: Health-rela	ted benefits, by household category, 1981–2006, for households	
with two N	Iāori adults	36
Table 3.21: Parental sm	noking, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with	
one Māori	adult	37
Table 3.22: Parental sm	noking, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with	
two Māori	adults	37
Table 4.1: Real equiva	alised median household income (BHC) by ethnicity, 1988–2007	
(\$2007)		43
Table 4.2: Child pove	rty by household type (60 percent fixed line measure, AHC):	
proportion	s of children below the threshold	46
1 1		
Appendix Table C.1:	Median equivalised household income, by household category,	
11	1981–2006, for households with no Māori adult	59
Appendix Table C.2:	Low income, by household category, 1981–2006, for	
	households with no Māori adult	59
Appendix Table C.3:	Lack of any educational attainment, by household category.	01
The second s	1981–2006. for households with no Māori adult	59
Appendix Table C 4	Lack of post-secondary educational attainment, by household	07
inppendix ruble c. i.	category 1981–2006 for households with no Māori adult	60
Appendix Table C 5:	Lack of paid employment, by household category 1981–2006	00
Appendix Table C.S.	for households with no Māori adult	60
Appondix Table C 6.	Long working hours by household category 1981 2006 for	00
Appendix Table C.6:	households with no Māori adult	60
Annondiu Table C 7	Look of home symmetric by household setseen 1981 200(60
Appendix Table C./:	Lack of nome ownership, by nousehold category, 1981–2006,	(0
	for nousenoids with no Maori adult	60
Appendix Table C.8:	Low rental affordability, by nousehold category, 1981–2006,	(0)
	for households with no Maori adult	60
Appendix Table C.9:	Crowding, by household category, 1981–2006, for households	
	with no Māori adult	61
Appendix Table C.10:	Health-related benefits, by household category, 1981–2006, for	-
	households with no Māori adult	61
Appendix Table C.11:	Parental smoking, by household category, 1981–2006, for	
	households with no Māori adult	61

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1:	Distribution of composition for households with at least one Maori	
	adult at census years 1981–2006	21
Figure 3.1:	Median equivalised income, by household category, 1981–2006, for	
	households with one Māori adult	23
Figure 3.2:	Median equivalised income, by household category, 1981–2006, for	
	households with two Māori adults	23
Figure 3.3:	Low income, by household category, 1981-2006, for households with	
	one Māori adult	24
Figure 3.4:	Low income, by household category, 1981-2006, for households with	
	two Māori adults	25
Figure 3.5:	Lack of any educational attainment, by household category,	
	1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult	26
Figure 3.6:	Lack of any educational attainment, by household category,	
	1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults	26
Figure 3.7:	Lack of post-secondary educational attainment, by household category,	
	1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult	27
Figure 3.8:	Lack of post-secondary educational attainment, by household category,	
	1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults	28
Figure 3.9:	Lack of paid employment, by household category, 1981-2006, for	
	households with one Māori adult	29
Figure 3.10:	Lack of paid employment, by household category, 1981-2006, for	
	households with two Māori adults	29
Figure 3.11:	Long working hours, by household category, 1981–2006, for households	
	with one Māori adult	31
Figure 3.12:	Long working hours, by household category, 1981–2006, for households	
	with two Māori adults	31
Figure 3.13:	Lack of home ownership, by household category, 1981–2006, for	
	households with one Māori adult	32
Figure 3.14:	Lack of home ownership, by household category, 1981–2006, for	
	households with two Māori adults	32
Figure 3.15:	Low rental affordability, by household category, 1981–2006, for	
	households with one Māori adult, living in rented dwellings	33
Figure 3.16:	Low rental affordability, by household category, 1981–2006, for	
	households with two Māori adults, living in rented dwellings	34
Figure 3.17:	Crowding, by household category, 1981-2006, for households with one	
	Māori adult	35

Figure 2 19.	Crowding by household catagory 1981 2006 for households with two	
figure 5.18.	Māori adults	35
Figure 3.19:	Health-related benefits, by household category, 1981–2006, for	
8	households with one Māori adult	36
Figure 3.20:	Health-related benefits, by household category, 1981–2006, for	
-	households with two Māori adults	37
Figure 3.21:	Parental smoking, by household category, 1981–2006, for households	
	with one Māori adult	38
Figure 3.22:	Parental smoking, by household category, 1981–2006, for households	
	with two Māori adults	38
Figure 4.1:	Distribution of individuals across household income quintiles (BHC)	
	from the Household Economic Survey 2008	44
Figure 4.2:	Distribution of individuals across household income quintiles (AHC)	
	from the Household Economic Survey 2008	44
Figure 4.3:	Ethnic inequality in median household income, ratio of ethnic groups'	
	median income to European/Pākehā median income, 1988–2008	45
Figure 4.4:	Proportion of households with housing costs > 30 percent of after-tax	
	income, by income quintile, from the Household Economic Survey	45
Figure 4.5:	Labour force participation rate by ethnicity 1986–2009	48
Figure 4.6:	Face-to-face contact with family members living in other households, by	
č	ethnic group	50
	Figure 3.18: Figure 3.19: Figure 3.20: Figure 3.21: Figure 3.22: Figure 4.1: Figure 4.2: Figure 4.3: Figure 4.4: Figure 4.5: Figure 4.6:	 Figure 3.18: Crowding, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults Figure 3.19: Health-related benefits, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult Figure 3.20: Health-related benefits, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults Figure 3.21: Parental smoking, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult Figure 3.22: Parental smoking, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adult Figure 3.22: Parental smoking, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults Figure 4.1: Distribution of individuals across household income quintiles (BHC) from the Household Economic Survey 2008 Figure 4.2: Distribution of individuals across household income quintiles (AHC) from the Household Economic Survey 2008 Figure 4.3: Ethnic inequality in median household income, ratio of ethnic groups' median income to European/Pākehā median income, 1988–2008 Figure 4.4: Proportion of households with housing costs > 30 percent of after-tax income, by income quintile, from the Household Economic Survey Figure 4.5: Labour force participation rate by ethnicity 1986–2009 Figure 4.6: Face-to-face contact with family members living in other households, by ethnic group

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Significant changes occurred in New Zealand during the period 1981 to 2006 and unsurprisingly, these had a profound effect on Māori whānau/families and households. Changes during this period have been documented by the Family Whanau and Wellbeing Project (FWWP). Many of the trends observed for the general population also apply to Māori whānau and households. However there are significant differences and any generic application would hide the impact of changes during this period on Māori whānau/ households. This report focuses on Māori whānau/households and examines in greater depth the relationship between factors associated with wellbeing and the experience of these whanau/households during this period. The implications for policymaking practice and further research makes the availability of this information invaluable.

This report publishes findings derived from New Zealand Census data 1981–2006, and contextualises the information to illuminate relevant areas for current policy consideration. It is a timely contribution to a key policy area, namely whānau ora/family wellbeing. The report does not attempt to identify all of the policy implications from the findings but instead is a basis for informing policy.

Indicators of family wellbeing have been developed from data relating to six censuses to identify trends across 25 years. Reports and publications to date include: *Family wellbeing indicators from the 1981–2001 New Zealand Censuses* (Milligan et al., 2006); *Measuring changes in family and whānau wellbeing using census data*, 1981–2006: A preliminary analysis (Cotterell et al., 2008a); An examination of linkages between parental educational qualifications, family structure and family wellbeing (Cotterell et al., 2008b), and A guide to using data from the New Zealand census: 1981–2006 (Errington et al., 2008).

Information on housing, income, occupation and ethnicity, as well as specific areas such as smoking, are also included. Unfortunately, census data are very limited and sporadic with regards to health, although there are other important sources of health information that will be briefly considered in this report to contextualise other findings relevant to hauora (health and wellbeing). These include the New Zealand Health Survey, the Child and Youth Epidemiology Service, the Youth Health Survey, and the Ministry of Social Development's Social Reports for the period 1981-2006. Other sources of information will be briefly examined from the following datasets: Survey of Family, Income and Employment (SoFIE); the Household Economic Survey (HES); the New Zealand Health Survey (NZHS); and the Household Labour Force Survey (HLFS). A thorough examination of the implications of these information sources for health and/or other wellbeing indicators for Māori remains to be done.

Trends for Māori whānau/households include both positive and negative cycles, some of which are driven by external impacts such as international economic cycles, and some of which are internal cycles such as long-term demographic shifts and changes in social behaviours (Pool & Johnstone, 1999).The data considered here finish in 2006, but where possible the latest data available from national surveys have been used to augment these trends. For example, New Zealand entered a recession at the end of June 2008 and technically left the recession at the end of June 2009, although Statistics New Zealand commented that no significant conclusions could be drawn regarding this being a turning point in economic activity given that the June 2009 quarter growth was 0.1 percent (Statistics New Zealand, 2009b). The duration and extent of the recession will have a material effect on Māori whānau/ households. Research on a recent recession has shown that recessions negatively impact Māori populations disproportionately, and that these impacts persist for longer (Blakely & McLeod, 2009).

Wellbeing trends during this 25-year period reflect periods of low and high employment, increasing housing costs, and significant changes in Government policy that impact families, including the introduction of Working for Families (WFF) in 2004. External sources confirm that there was an increase in relative poverty for single-parent families, families with three or more dependent children and Maori and Pacific families (Perry, 2009a). This is due in part to interlocking factors of high income inequality and high rates of unemployment followed by periods of high employment, decreased crowding in housing, and increases in those with secondary qualifications. These findings are consistent with other findings around income, employment and home ownership.

Income inequality and unemployment were especially noted among Māori in the early 1990s. These are associated with family structure – Māori had higher proportions of single-parent families who lost income during the period 1981–1991. Māori are more likely to be in certain occupational groups that are less secure and more buffeted during times of economic stress. Unemployment peaked in 1991 for all family types except for single-parent families, for whom unemployment peaked in 1986. Single-parent families with dependent children were also more likely to have a family member unemployed with 16 percent at each census point after 1981 (Cotterell et al., 2007). All family types experienced an increase in the proportion of families where at least one member worked more than 48 hours per week, with the largest increase in couples with independent children (ibid.).

WFF was introduced by the fifth Labour Government between 2004 and 2008, and impacted the latter period of our consideration for trends, but also has significance beyond this period. The proportion of whānau/households reliant on government assistance increased during this 25-year period. Unusually, two-parent working families became increasingly impoverished during the late 1980s and early 1990s, which prompted the major redistribution policy implemented as WFF. Cabinet papers confirm that the intention of WFF was to "assist working people, especially low and middle income families" (Cabinet Office, 2004).

Cotterell et al. (2007) also showed that housing tenure changed 1981-2001, with four of the five family types examined increasingly not living in their own dwellings. The largest increase was for single-parent families. However, crowding decreased over the same period, except in the case of single-parent families with only independent children, for whom the proportion of crowded dwellings increased slightly 1981-2006 (Cotterell et al., 2008a). Single-parent families with dependent children experienced by far the highest level of crowding during the period. Rents increased substantially during the period, as did the proportion of families paying more than 25 percent of their equivalised income in rent. Couples with dependent children saw the largest increase here, followed closely by singleparent families with dependent children, which were the most likely families to be paying more than 25 percent of their equivalised income in rent throughout the period (Cotterell et al., 2007).

Improvements in wellbeing were also experienced by Māori, such as a decline in households where no parent had any secondary school qualifications, with the biggest decrease seen for couples with dependent children (Cotterell et al., 2008a).

An increasing proportion of children are likely to be of Māori descent given the census trends of increasing identification of Māori identity and the slightly higher fertility rates among Māori relative to the general population. The effects of changes to whānau/families will therefore be of national significance for New Zealand society and not just for Māori communities and iwi. This is of particular value given the Government's recently announced Whānau Ora strategy which is intended to provide improved support to Māori whānau in need (Whānau Ora Taskforce, 2009). Identifying these long-term trends for Māori is a valuable basis for informing policy and services planning in the future.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Māori life expectancy has increased significantly over the past 25 years. Māori men were expected to live for 68 years and Māori women for 72 years in 1985 (Pool, 1990), increasing to 70.4 years for males and 75.1 years for females for 2005-2007 (Statistics New Zealand, 2009a). By 2008 a newborn girl could expect to live to the age of 82.2 years and a boy to 78.2 years (Durie, 2009). Survivability and longevity have policy implications for Māori whānau, including new challenges such as: how to care for chronically ill elderly; retirement; new family formation; and other phenomena associated with an ageing population. Māori remain a relatively youthful population though, with 35 percent under 15 years of age.

Understanding long-term trends and their impact on Māori whānau/families and households is an important basis for any informed policy development. Māori are a diverse population with as much intra-ethnic variation as inter-ethnic variation (Cunningham, 2008). The danger therefore of any Māori analysis is the tendency to focus on the mean rather than acknowledge the range of Māori outcomes present. However, Māori are more likely to share experiences and patterns as a population, which makes these analyses valuable. Given changing definitions of ethnicity and self-identification of Māori, it may be more accurate to assess Māori ancestry over time in order to better understand long-term trends. We have not been able to undertake this analysis in this report, but it would be useful for future analysis. Despite these limitations there is important information on trends that helps us to better understand the experiences of Māori families and households.

Quality long-term information is needed to guide policy development, determine resource allocation, shape interventions and monitor outcomes. The increasing involvement of Māori community providers in the delivery of services to Māori has expanded the need for high quality research-based information beyond academia and the policy world, and out into the community. Te Hoe Nuku Roa, the Māori longitudinal study, will aid our understanding of Māori whānau, but few publications are available to date.

The New Zealand Census offers a wealth of information for understanding and informing Māori health knowledge, policy and services planning (Cotterell, Wheldon, & Milligan, 2007). Limited use has been made of this information to date with no study of Māori household and family level variables and their application to health, for example, being undertaken. This study contributes to correcting this oversight on the assumption that household/ family level variables have a great deal to offer especially in identifying modifiable variables consistent with a lifecourse and kaupapa Māori approach to health.

Household/family level indicators are relevant to increase the protectiveness and resilience of Māori whānau/households (Connolly & Doolan, 2007; Perry, 1997; Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). Variables to be considered include family structure, geographical location, breastfeeding, housing type including crowding, income amount and source, educational status of parents and cultural connectedness. While there has been some analysis of Maori data with the Survey of Family, Income and Employment (SoFIE), the Household Economic Survey (HES), the New Zealand Health Survey (NZHS), the Household Labour Force Survey (HLFS) and the Family Whānau and Wellbeing Project (FWWP) census datasets, it has usually been with outcomes at the individual, rather than whanau or household level. FWWP results pioneered the aggregation of census data at the household and family levels. This project extends the descriptive work of FWWP to analyse these levels, as well as individual associations with positive outcomes, for all Māori households and families in Aotearoa/ New Zealand.

1.2 Overview

1.2.1 Report overview

This report describes changes in wellbeing for Māori families over the 1981–2006 period based on data from the New Zealand Census of Population and Dwellings. Changes in household composition for Māori households are also described. Māori families/households are defined by the presence of parents of Māori ethnicity – those with one Māori parent and those with two Māori parents are analysed separately.

Changes in wellbeing over the period 1981– 2006 are described using a set of indicators. Families are further divided into four categories based on their usual household composition: *couples without children, single-parent families, other one-family households* and *multi-family households*. Data for the non-Māori population are included in Appendix C, to allow comparison of differences in wellbeing between the Māori population and the non-Māori population. This comparison is not conducted in the main body of the report because the primary purpose of the report is to examine the wellbeing of the Māori population in detail and not to compare it with the rest of the population.

1.2.2 Family Whānau and Wellbeing Project (FWWP)

FWWP was a 5-year research programme supported by the Social Science funding pool of the Foundation for Research, Science and Technology (FRST). The principal goal of this programme was to develop ways to examine and monitor the social and economic determinants of family and whānau wellbeing and how these changed over the 1981–2006 period. This research report draws on the work of FWWP in that it utilises the same wellbeing indicators to analyse some aspects of Māori family wellbeing.

This report owes much to the enormous effort over many years of the Centre of Methods and Policy Application in the Social Sciences (COMPASS) and its earlier designation as the Social Statistics Research Group (SSRG), The University of Auckland. They undertook the development of the indicators and datasets that have enabled this report.

1.3 Report structure

This report is structured as follows: the remainder of Section 1 details the use of census data, the family and household classifications, and the wellbeing indicators analysed in the report. Section 2 examines changes in Māori household composition 1981-2006, and Section 3 examines changes in the wellbeing of Māori families by the household types described, for the same period. Section 4 draws together the results of the previous sections and discusses trends and outcomes for different household types for each indicator. It also includes data from other analyses conducted in New Zealand, where these are relevant and available for the particular indicator under discussion. A series of appendices are included to explain aspects of the methodology used to construct the indicators and family/household classifications.

1.4 Data source and data access

All data used in this report were derived from the 5-yearly New Zealand Censuses of Population and Dwellings conducted between 1981 and 2006 by Statistics New Zealand. The research team obtained access to confidentialised unit record data through Statistics New Zealand's secure Data Laboratory facility in Auckland. None of the personal identification information supplied on the original census forms, such as name and address, is carried over to the computer records held by Statistics New Zealand, so these details are not available to users of these data. Further details on data access are given in Appendix A.

1.4.1 Information from other official sample survey datasets

The authors sought household and family level information from official statistics sample surveys including the HES, HLFS, SoFIE, NZHS and the General Social Survey (GSS). All of these studies involve household-based samples and include large Māori sub-samples that would be amenable to distinct analysis for Māori households. Unfortunately, none of them have published information on Māori families or households, with the exception of the family contact information from the GSS.

For consideration for future research, some of these surveys have data available to researchers in the form of Confidentialised Unit Record Files (CURFs). These are data sets that have potentially identifying data removed and various other modifications made to protect confidentiality; they are also often offered as subsets, e.g. 10 percent of the sample. CURFs are becoming more commonly developed, especially by Statistics New Zealand and other government agencies for the purposes of encouraging secondary data analysis. However, accessing these is beyond the scope of the current project.

1.4.2 Information from public good funded research projects

Several large scale research projects contain information on Māori families and some of these are already being used as sources of detailed information about family-level determinants and outcomes for Māori (see Marie, Fergusson, & Boden, 2008a, 2008b, 2008c, 2008d, 2009). These projects include the Christchurch Health and Development Study (CHDS), the Dunedin Multidisciplinary Health and Development Study, Te Hoe Nuku Roa, Youth Health 2000 and 2007, and the new Growing Up in New Zealand project. Some of these projects have established protocols for external researchers to analyse their data while others prefer research projects to be led by an existing co-investigator. All of these studies could provide useful insights into the determinants and outcomes of familyand household-level wellbeing for Māori. Again, accessing this information is beyond the scope of this project.

Access to data from other sources was limited to already published information or use of the Table Builder facility on the Statistics New Zealand website.

1.5 Classifying families and households

Statistics New Zealand notes that:

A 'family nucleus' is a couple, with or without children, or one parent and their child(ren) usually resident in the same dwelling. The children do not have partners or children of their own living in the same household. People who usually live in a particular dwelling, and are members of a family nucleus in that dwelling, but who are absent on census night, are included, as long as they are reported as being absent by the reference person on the dwelling form.*

http://www.stats.govt.nz/Census/about-2006census/information-by-variable/family-type.aspx, accessed 9 April, 2010.

In contrast, a household is defined as any group of families or individuals living in the same dwelling, regardless of their relationships to one another. Therefore, census families are wholly contained within households. However, it is important to note that not all households contain families and also that some households are made up of a family or families cohabiting with non-family members.

In this report the primary focus is the census family unit. Indicators are presented for these units in four categories: couples without children, single-parent families, other one-family households, multi-family households. The full classification scheme and the definitions used for this report are detailed in Table 1.1. The second and third categories have at least one child by definition and, as we did not break things down any further, there is no restriction in those categories on age of children - the only requirement is to be living with parent(s) and thus identified as dependent/independent children by the census. In previous FWWP reports the categories were broken down to, for instance, couples with dependent children and couples with only independent children - defined based on considerations of age and employment status. However, the distinction is not material for the work-related indicators presented as the outcomes of children are not taken into account, e.g. in the median equivalised income and low income indicators, or those that specifically refer to parents, as for lack of paid work. Terminology used in this report is consistent with FWWP's recent report on the wellbeing of Pacific families (Cotterell et al., 2009).

There are many definitions of whānau/family with most describing it as based upon whakapapa. Early definitions referred to three or four generations living in the same household or compound (Walker, 2006). Whānau is more than simply an extended family network (Durie, 1998b). They share a common whakapapa (descent from a shared ancestor), although contemporary definitions include not just whānau whakapapa but also whānau kaupapa (interests in common which perform the core functions of whānau).

'Whānau' has great policy currency, an example of which is the Whānau Ora Taskforce (2009-2010). This central government initiative seeks reorientation of health and welfare policies/programmes towards whanau rather than individuals. There are shortcomings in data on Māori whānau that need to be borne in mind when developing policy for Māori based on existing data. For example, recent work on Māori family wellbeing from the CHDS highlighted issues of limited precision and generalisability of research based on the small number of Māori whānau at a single point in time (Marie et al., 2009). In the same study, they also found that examining family-level outcomes for Māori highlighted different determinants than for non-Māori families (Marie et al., 2008a, 2008b, 2008c, 2008d, 2009).

As with other New Zealand families, Māori whānau continue to change with shifting demographic, social and economic patterns. Family composition has been changing, although only marginally, with increases in the numbers of people who live together and do not marry, single-parent families and people living alone (Families Commission, 2008). Despite this, in 2006 76 percent of partnered people were married, the divorce rate was still low at 11.9 percent. The marriage rate was 13.9 percent and 34 percent of marriages were remarriages. Single-parent families comprised 10 percent of all households and 21 percent of households with dependent children, and these proportions were expected to remain relatively stable until 2021 (ibid.). Increased life expectancy is changing social patterns for families and households with an increased number of people living longer, responsible for aged parents, and spending longer in marriages or remarrying. Interactions between social patterns such as demography and economic cycles impact on families and households by shaping the decisions that individuals, families and

communities make, and thereby changing them. During times of economic recession, for example, it is more likely that families will group together in multi-family or multi-generational households.

Family function is more important for wellbeing than family form, as the latter is affected by factors such as:

- the structure of the labour market (where work is available),
- demographic shifts such as delayed fertility resulting in fewer and later births,
- mobility and more women working,
- costs of housing,
- technology (the ability to 'stay in touch' even when living long distances apart),
- changed social roles such as greater participation of men in raising their children.

However, function changes little over time, as the basis for reproducing and raising the next generation, providing social identity, values, cohesion and support remains the basis of any family unit.

Families live in households. The question as to whether a household is a family has also become more complex as unrelated individuals in a household may perform the function of a family, while related individuals in multiple households may also be a family. Households are the basis of census information.

1.6 Determining the ethnicity of households

One of the primary aims of this report is to investigate changes in wellbeing for what we have defined as 'Māori' households – such a definition is not clear cut. Is it a household where one of the adults present identifies as Māori, or only where at least two adults do, or do the majority of household members have to? Given that ethnicity is identified as an individual personal trait in the census (Statistics New Zealand, 2004), can we even meaningfully identify the 'ethnicity' of a household or family?

The issue of how to identify family and by association household ethnicity has provoked considerable discussion among academics and analysts who seek to understand the impact of ethnicity in social policy (for example see Callister, 2006; Callister, Didham, Newell, & Potter, 2007; Rochford, 1996).

Ethnicity in itself is an area of considerable complexity and debate in social research. Increasing levels of inter-ethnic marriage and increasing numbers of people with multiple ethnic identities make it difficult for researchers to use and analyse ethnicity data. Statistics New Zealand recently published on its website a series of informative papers that discuss these issues and provide examples for

Usual household composition	Household type
Couple only	Couple-only households
One-parent family	Single-parent family households
One-parent family plus others	
Couple with children	Other one-family households
Couple only plus others	
Couple with children plus others	
Two two-parent families with or without children	Multi-family households
Two-parent plus one-parent family	
Two one-parent families	
Three or more families	

TABLE 1.1: Census usual household composition categories and report household type

researchers on how to gather, use and interpret ethnicity data.[†]

The method we employ for this report is to define a household as Māori where at least one of the adults identifies as Māori, which is the same definition as used in the longitudinal study of Māori households running since 1994 (Te Hoe Nuku Roa). This approach looks at households in which there is a member of Māori ethnicity, rather than at 'Māori' households, i.e. ethnic identification remains at the individual level and we look at the family and household environment of the individual. Nonfamily entities and people not related to the family unit are therefore excluded.

The statuses of the adults in the household (in terms of employment, income level, educational attainment and similar) play the major role in determining the level of wellbeing in most households. There are some situations where parents present are unemployed or have no educational qualifications, and so adult children who have acquired educational qualifications and/or are in full-time employment may play a more substantive role in determining the level of wellbeing, but these are not captured separately in our analysis.

1.7 Measuring the wellbeing of 'Māori' households

Our use of census data allows for an assessment of continuity and change in societal patterns over a long segment of time. Information obtained from the census covers (almost) all members of the population, allowing us to examine the wellbeing of all New Zealanders, as well as providing specific information on different population groupings, as in this case with Māori households.[‡] The census collects information on all individuals living in common dwelling units (households). The data also associate individuals within households into family groups. We can conduct household- and family-level analyses, acknowledging the fundamental interdependence between family members and showing how the impact of wider change has varied for different types of families.

The disadvantages associated with using census data to measure changes in family wellbeing are linked to the limited range and depth of information collected, the frequency of collection for some data, and the way in which family types are defined and measured. For the purposes of creating indicators to measure changes in wellbeing, we are constrained by the information available through census data. Family and household wellbeing may be influenced by other factors (e.g. the perceived quality of family/household relationships) for which no census information is available.

The lack of suitable information also means that some indicators end up being indirect proxy measures for particular attributes of interest. For example, we include a health indicator examining changes in the proportion of families with an adult receiving health-related benefits, rather than any actual measure of the state of physical health of a family. There are also some limitations in interpreting change using some indicators. For example, income data are defined in banded categories rather than discrete amounts; our 'median equivalised income' indicator is based on these data, and uses medians of the band categories, which reduces its accuracy.

The lack of data availability can also constrain time series analysis. Some census questions that may be relevant to family/household wellbeing are no longer asked (e.g. housing insulation), while others (e.g. on smoking) are included on an irregular basis (1981, 1996, 2006 in our study period). This means that the monitoring of changes in some domains is less frequent and less continuous than ideal.

[†] http://www.stats.govt.nz/reports/analyticalreports/review-measurement-of-ethnicity.aspx, accessed 9 April 2010.

[‡] For information on census coverage, see Statistics New Zealand, 2001.

Finally, the census definition of 'family' only incorporates those members who live within the same household. Census wellbeing measures may thus be poor indicators for families whose members do not all reside within the one household. In particular, this relates to separated/ divorced parents who usually share custody of their children, and children who live across two households. The ability to monitor the wellbeing of those in extended family situations is also constrained by this household-based definition of family.

1.7.1 Wellbeing indicators

The original set of indicators used for this study was obtained from the work of Milligan, Fabian, Coope, and Errington (2006). The main FWWP report based on these indicators (Cotterell, von Randow, & Wheldon, 2008a) describes various changes to and exclusions from the original set.

This report presents overall results for Māori families using that same resulting set, described in Table 1.2 below. The indicators used are for outcomes that are readily modifiable by policy or other interventions. The health domain includes an indicator for smoking that was not presented in earlier FWWP results reports; this and the additional information on face-to-face contact report on important areas relating to Māori wellbeing. Unfortunately, we were not able to extract any cultural expression indicators from this dataset, but acknowledge their value for Māori identity.

Wellbeing domain	Indicator name	Definition			
Income	Median equivalised income	Median real, gross equivalised household income. Equivalised income is gross income adjusted for household composition using the Revised Jensen Scale (Jensen, 1988) and expressed in 1999 dollars using the March quarter consumers price index (CPI) (base 1999) for the relevant year (Statistics New Zealand, 2005)			
	Low income	The proportion of households whose median real, gross equivalised income is less than 60 percent of the median equivalised gross household income			
Education	Any educational attainment	The proportion of households where no adult has any formal educational qualification			
	Post-secondary educational attainment	The proportion of households where no adult has any post-secondary qualification			
Work	Families without paid work	The proportion of households with no adult engaged in formal paid employment			
	Long working hours	The proportion of households where at least one adult works more than 48 hours per week			
Housing	Home ownership	The proportion of families that do not live in owner-occupied dwellings			
	Rental affordability	The proportion of households in rented dwellings, whose weekly rent is greater than 25 percent of the gross equivalised household income			
	Crowding	The proportion of households living in dwellings that require at least one additional bedroom to meet the sleeping needs of the household			
Health	Health-related benefits	The proportion of households with at least one adult receiving either a sickness or invalid's benefit			
	Smoking	The proportion of all households with one or two Māori parents present and with at least one parent who smokes cigarettes			

 TABLE 1.2:
 Wellbeing indicators presented

1.8 Household types and the presentation of results

In the case of the household crowding indicator, no results are presented for couple-only households; they are excluded from consideration because of the limited applicability of the crowding concept to their housing circumstances. Household types that do not identify families are excluded from our analyses. These differ across census years, and include:

- Non-Family Households
- One-Person Households
- Not Elsewhere Classified, i.e. visitors only
- Household of Unrelated People
- Other Multi-Person Household Not Further Classifiable

Due to missing data in census variables, both raw collected and derived, there are also family type classifications that are incomplete and thus excluded from our analyses, e.g. Household Not Classifiable, Household Composition Unidentifiable. All of the indicators with percentage-based outputs (i.e. all except median income) are defined so that *high* values have *negative* connotations, for consistency across indicators and the other reports from FWWP.

Further to the discussion of median income earlier, the issue of having banded income data is greater when combined with the equivalising of income and measuring medians for singleparent families. The ubiquitous presence of only one income in these families, and the resulting clumping of values at the band medians, mean that to see a visible difference would generally require a whole band shift. This effect can be seen in tables presented in this report, where the analysis of all Māori families and also those of most of the sub-groups report median equivalised income for single-parent families to be: \$16,708 in 1986; \$14,565 in 1991; and \$14,311 in 1996.

2 CHANGES IN MĀORI HOUSEHOLD COMPOSITION OVER TIME

As described earlier, 'Māori households' have been defined by the presence of at least one adult of Māori ethnicity. This section reports on the changing distributions of Māori households over the 1981–2006 period, looking at census 'usual household composition' categories and the number of children present, within each of the four household types used for the project, as described in Section 1.5.

2.9 Usual household composition

Numbers of certain family types increased, sometimes significantly, as shown in Table 2.1. However, what is important is to look across time at the proportions of families as this gives us a clearer picture about trends relating to family composition.

Household composition	1981	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006	
Couples without children	14.1%	15.0%	15.8%	18.9%	20.2%	21.6%	
Couples only	13,095	14,778	17,808	28,404	28,032	33,744	
Single-parent families	13.0%	17.5%	25.9%	24.4%	26.4%	24.4%	
One-parent family	8,886	12,387	21,408	25,590	25,578	27,393	
One-parent family plus others	3,168	4,932	7,665	11,133	11,022	10,764	
Other one-family households	68.3%	59.9%	51.7%	48.2%	46.9%	45.7%	
Couples only plus others	1,701	1,866	2,301	5,409	4,626	5,349	
Couples with children	53,994	50,496	50,046	59,502	53,151	59,145	
Couples with children plus others	7,728	6,786	5,751	7,560	7,365	7,062	
Multi-family households	4.7%	7.6%	6.6%	8.5%	6.5%	8.3%	
Two two-parent families with or without children	1,890	1,776	1,713	3,591	2,919	903	
Two-parent plus one-parent family	1,635	3,342	3,345	5,160	2,187	2,640	
Two one-parent families	513	1,584	1,857	3,102	15	2,619	
Other two-family household	-	-	-	18	3,042	5,892	
Three or more families	288	774	549	975	891	927	

TABLE 2.1: Distribution of composition of Māori households as at census years 1981–2006



FIGURE 2.1: Distribution of composition for households with at least one Māori adult at census years 1981–2006

Summary

Māori couples with children, e.g. other onefamily households, became less common over the period, accounting for 23 percent fewer Māori households in 2006 than in 1981 – the most significant change appears to have occurred from 1981 to 1991. In contrast there was a steady increase in couples without children. Similarly there was an increase in the proportion of single-parent families between 1981 and 1991, but this then stabilised. Their numbers increased, but they accounted for a lower proportion of total families in 2006 than in 1991. Multi-family households varied across the period, but they always made up a much smaller proportion than any other household type. Multi-family households increased between 1981 and 1991 and then remained relatively stable (much like single-parent families).

3 CHANGES IN FAMILY WELLBEING FOR MĀORI FAMILIES, 1981–2006

3.1 Income

3.1.1 Equivalised income

Indicator definition: Median equivalised real household income for households where one or two Māori adults are present.

For the purposes of the analyses in this report, median equivalised real income is median gross income adjusted for household composition using the Revised Jensen Scale (Jensen, 1988) and expressed in 1999 dollars using the March quarter CPI (base 1999) for the relevant year (Statistics New Zealand, 2005).

Summary points for median equivalised income

Households with one Māori adult

There were enormous income differences between single-parent families and multi-family

households on the one hand, and other household types on the other. All household types experienced increases in median equivalised incomes over the whole period. However, declines were seen for couples without children and other onefamily households between 1981 and 1991; the growth in real income for these household types occurred between 1991 and 2006.

Households with two Māori adults

Median equivalised income increased over the period as a whole, for all household types with two Māori adults. However, couples without children and other one-family households initially saw decreases between 1981 and 1991. For all family types the largest increases occurred between 2001 and 2006. Two-Māori-adult households had lower median incomes than one-Māori-adult households, except in the case

 TABLE 3.1:
 Median equivalised household income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult

Household category	1981	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006
Couples without children	\$50,000	\$45,388	\$39,945	\$46,415	\$48,163	\$52,041
Single-parent families	\$13,203	\$16,708	\$14,565	\$14,311	\$13,309	\$16,715
Other one-family households	\$32,619	\$31,366	\$31,741	\$34,276	\$37,665	\$43,006
Multi-family households	\$14,370	\$16,708	\$14,565	\$15,758	\$18,282	\$23,992

TABLE 3.2: Median equivalised household income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

Household category	1981	1986	1991	1996	2001	2006
Couples without children	\$40,000	\$39,016	\$30,008	\$35,927	\$38,679	\$46,062
Other one-family households	\$26,777	\$27,197	\$24,964	\$26,551	\$29,297	\$35,745
Multi-family households	\$22,087	\$25,993	\$23,735	\$26,249	\$28,748	\$34,690



FIGURE 3.1: Median equivalised income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult



FIGURE 3.2: Median equivalised income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

of multi-family households, who had the lowest median incomes in general along with singleparent families in the one-adult case.

3.1.2 Low income

Indicator definition: The proportion of all households with one/two Māori adults present, whose equivalised gross income is less than 60 percent of the overall median equivalised gross household income.

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	18.8	9.5	10.4	15.2	15.7	15.2
Single-parent families	72.2	66.9	75.0	71.6	73.5	69.3
Other one-family households	24.3	20.4	17.4	16.7	16.5	15.3
Multi-family households	63.7	60.1	58.6	55.0	57.2	50.0

TABLE 3.3: Low income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult

TABLE 3.4: Low income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	27.9	15.3	20.7	25.3	23.0	20.4
Other one-family households	36.1	31.1	30.3	29.9	28.5	25.0
Multi-family households	49.4	34.2	32.8	32.3	32.8	28.1

Summary points for low income Households with one Māori adult

The proportions of families with low incomes declined over the period for all family types. Almost 70 percent of single-parent families and 50 percent of multi-family households were in the low income category in 2006 compared with 15 percent for other one-family households and couples without children. The largest decrease in proportion over the period was for multi-family households, at 13.7 percent.

Households with two Māori adults

As with the previous summary, proportions of families with low incomes declined over the period for all family types. Multi-family households again saw the greatest decline, from 49.4 percent to 28.1 percent, but they saw the highest proportion on low incomes of all household types at every census point.



FIGURE 3.3: Low income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult



FIGURE 3.4: Low income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

3.2 Education

3.2.1 Educational attainment

Indicator definition: The proportion of all households with one/two Māori adults present where no adult has any educational qualifications.

Summary points for educational attainment

Households with one Māori adult

There was a decline in the proportion with no adults with educational attainment across the period for all family types (that is, everyone is doing better). Single-parent fared the worst at every time point, but they also saw the biggest improvement of almost 40 percent between 1981 and 2006.

Households with two Māori adults

There were decreases over the time period for all household types with two Māori adults (that is, they improved in adult educational attainment). However, all but multi-family households fared worse than their counterparts with one Māori adult at every time point; they are doing worse, and multi-family households were still in a worse position than the other household types. In both cases the ordering changed with couples without children faring better than other one-family households in 1981 but worse than them in 2006.

Although there was an overall increase in educational attainment, in 2006 there were still high proportions of households with adults with no educational qualifications, e.g. 43 percent for single-parent families and 12.2 and 22.4 percent of other one-family households with one and two Māori adults, respectively.

TABLE 3.5: Lack of any educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	39.4	27.3	27.7	31.4	21.0	17.9
Single-parent families	82.7	73.0	69.6	69.6	50.1	43.3
Other one-family households	46.5	35.1	29.6	29.4	16.3	12.2
Multi-family households	76.8	69.7	61.6	61.1	42.4	36.0

TABLE 3.6:Lack of any educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households
with two Māori adults

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	61.7	48.9	46.0	50.4	31.4	27.4
Other one-family households	68.7	53.4	46.6	48.6	28.8	22.4
Multi-family households	76.0	61.6	52.3	55.0	35.3	30.4



FIGURE 3.5: Lack of any educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult



FIGURE 3.6: Lack of any educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

3.2.2 Post-secondary educational attainment

Indicator definition: The proportion of all households with one/two Māori adults present where no adult has any post-secondary qualification.

Summary points for post-secondary educational attainment

Households with one Māori adult

This indicator saw an improvement for all household types with one Māori adult. However, in 2006 there were still rather high proportions, around 70 percent, of single-parent families and multi-family households in this category where adults lacked post-secondary qualifications. The largest decline, or 'improvement' over the period, of over 30 percent, was recorded by other one-family households.

Households with two Māori adults

There were consistent declines over the period in this indicator, for all household types, with

 TABLE 3.7:
 Lack of post-secondary educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	65.6	49.9	44.1	48.3	43.2	39.9
Single-parent families	94.9	88.8	81.4	83.9	74.6	75.0
Other one-family households	69.6	53.8	45.1	49.3	42.4	38.5
Multi-family households	91.5	85.6	75.6	77.2	68.3	69.1

 TABLE 3.8:
 Lack of post-secondary educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	84.4	69.5	60.5	66.6	55.0	54.3
Other one-family households	86.8	71.8	61.2	66.4	56.0	53.0
Multi-family households	93.3	79.2	66.3	71.7	61.0	62.1



FIGURE 3.7: Lack of post-secondary educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult



FIGURE 3.8: Lack of post-secondary educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

over 30 percent improvements for each. The proportion lacking post-secondary qualifications was higher than for one-Māori-adult households, for all household types.

3.3 Work

3.3.1 Parental employment

Indicator definition: The proportion of all households with one/two Māori adults present where there is no adult in formal paid employment.

Summary points for parental employment

Households with one Māori adult

All household types saw improvements on this indicator 1981–2006, i.e. lower occurrences of no adult being in paid employment. However,

there were smaller periods of sizeable increases, especially 1986 to 1991, most likely related to unemployment which increased during this period. Unemployment for Māori peaked at 25 percent in 1991. Single-parent families and multi-family households fared worst on this indicator.

Households with two Māori adults

Only multi-family households saw a decrease over the period in the proportion lacking paid employment, i.e. their situations improved 1981–2006. As for households with one Māori adult, things got worse for all household types between 1986 and 1991, and then recovered somewhat through the rest of the period. Interestingly, the situation for multi-family households was quite a bit better than for their one-Māori-adult counterparts.

TABLE 3.9:Lack of paid employment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one
Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	15.9	16.1	22.4	19.6	16.8	13.6
Single-parent families	71.6	74.1	80.4	70.1	61.1	55.0
Other one-family households	6.6	5.7	15.6	10.1	8.7	5.6
Multi-family households	52.8	62.6	67.2	55.4	48.5	39.8

two Maori adui	ts					
Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	18.2	21.0	34.4	28.3	23.6	18.2
Other one-family households	10.1	11.0	29.1	22.5	17.6	11.5
Multi-family households	22.0	20.6	39.6	29.8	25.0	16.7

TABLE 3.10:Lack of paid employment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with
two Māori adults



FIGURE 3.9: Lack of paid employment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult



FIGURE 3.10: Lack of paid employment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

3.3.2 Long working hours

Indicator definition: The proportion of all households with one/two Māori adults present and at least one adult who works more than 48 hours per week.

Summary points for long working hours

Households with one Māori adult

All household types saw increases in the proportions with an adult working more than 48 hours per week. The largest absolute increases were for couples without children and other onefamily households, at more than 10 percent. The very low rates observed for single-parent families may partly be due to their reliance on government income assistance through benefits.

Households with two Māori adults

There was a generally increasing long-term trend for long hours worked for two-Māori-adult households. The drop off observed between 1986 and 1991 likely relates back to the similar increase in the lack of paid work indicator and generally higher unemployment. Multi-family households saw proportions much closer to those of the other household types than in the one-Māori-adult case, possibly tied to what was observed for lack of paid employment.

3.4 Housing

3.4.1 Home ownership

Indicator definition: The proportion of all households with one/two Māori adults present, not living in owner-occupied dwellings.

Summary points for home ownership Households with one Māori adult

All household types except single-parent families saw a decrease on this indicator, i.e. an increase in home ownership 1981–1991, and all types saw a steady decrease in home ownership 1996–2006. There was no consistent pattern across the whole period. At the ends of the spectrum, couples without children were the only ones more likely to own their own home in 2006 than in 1981; single-parent families were 20 percent less likely.

Households with two Māori adults

The same two-stage pattern was visible as for households with one Māori adult, a decrease in the indicator 1981–1991 and an increase 1991–2006, that is, housing became more affordable and then less affordable. Again, couples without children were the only families to see an improvement in their situation over the period as a whole.

 TABLE 3.11:
 Long working hours, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one

 Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	20.8	29.6	26.8	34.5	34.8	35.1
Single-parent families	2.8	3.5	2.9	4.2	5.1	6.2
Other one-family households	29.2	35.9	32.9	41.0	40.8	41.3
Multi-family households	8.8	8.0	7.8	12.1	12.7	15.8

 TABLE 3.12:
 Long working hours, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two

 Māori adults

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	14.9	22.1	17.2	24.0	26.8	29.2
Other one-family households	18.7	24.6	20.1	26.9	29.5	32.9
Multi-family households	12.9	17.8	14.0	20.7	22.9	27.4



FIGURE 3.11: Long working hours, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult



FIGURE 3.12: Long working hours, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

TABLE 3.13:Lack of home ownership, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one
Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	46.8	43.8	36.6	33.0	33.2	37.6
Single-parent families	58.5	62.5	59.8	67.3	71.5	77.0
Other one-family households	40.4	34.8	28.3	31.4	34.8	40.7
Multi-family households	42.8	40.3	36.2	43.8	48.4	53.3

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	59.0	52.5	45.4	45.7	44.3	51.0
Other one-family households	50.7	47.6	37.9	45.2	50.9	56.2
Multi-family households	40.1	34.0	29.9	36.9	41.8	49.2

TABLE 3.14:Lack of home ownership, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two
Māori adults



FIGURE 3.13: Lack of home ownership, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult



FIGURE 3.14: Lack of home ownership, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

3.4.2 Rental affordability

Indicator definition: The proportion of all households with one or two Māori adults present, living in rented dwellings, whose weekly rent is greater than 25 percent of their weekly gross equivalised household income.

Summary points for rental affordability

Households with one Māori adult

There were large relative increases in low rental

affordability for all family types between 1986 and 1996, with slight decreases from then until 2006. The period saw large differences among family types, with single-parent families and other one-family households faring worst in 2006, the latter having switched places with multi-family households back in 1986.

Households with two Māori adults

In 2006, two-Māori-adult households had lower rates of low rental affordability than their

TABLE 3.15:	Low rental affordability, by household category, 1981-2006, for households with one
	Māori adult, living in rented dwellings

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	16.0	15.1	25.6	28.5	28.6	26.2
Single-parent families	53.1	53.1	75.7	86.9	78.9	75.9
Other one-family households	29.0	28.3	46.6	56.6	55.1	52.2
Multi-family households	36.5	27.8	42.9	70.9	58.9	50.0

TABLE 3.16:Low rental affordability, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two
Māori adults, living in rented dwellings

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	20.9	18.4	30.2	34.9	31.5	24.8
Other one-family households	30.6	28.4	49.5	62.5	57.6	50.8
Multi-family households	26.6	20.7	33.0	54.1	47.9	39.6



FIGURE 3.15: Low rental affordability, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult, living in rented dwellings



FIGURE 3.16: Low rental affordability, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults, living in rented dwellings

one-Māori-adult counterparts (that is, they were doing better); for the rest of the period this was only the case for multi-family households. Again, the biggest decreases in affordability occurred between 1986 and 1996.

3.4.3 Crowding

Other one-family households

Multi-family households

Indicator definition: The proportion of all households with one or two Māori adults present, living in dwellings that require at least one additional bedroom to meet the sleeping needs of the household.

40.3

78.2

Summary points for crowding Households with one Māori adult

There was an overall decline in household crowding between 1981 and 2006. It peaked in 1986, 10 years before a peak in low rental affordability and 5 years before an increase in families lacking paid employment. There were noticeably high rates of crowding for multi-family households, likely related to the very definition, of more than one family living in a single dwelling. There was relatively little change in crowding rates after 1996.

25.0

55.9

26.0

53.7

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Single-parent families	41.7	38.7	33.5	29.9	29.4	30.2
Other one-family households	23.2	23.6	20.1	14.4	13.2	12.0
Multi-family households	77.6	79.7	74.6	64.7	60.1	58.0

Household category 198	31 (%) 1986 (%)	1991 (%) 1996 (%)	2001 (%) 2006 (%)
Household category	SI (%) 1986 (%)	1991 (%) 1996 (%)	2001 (%) 2006 (%)

37.8

77.0

32.5

67.9

27.2

59.2

34



FIGURE 3.17: Crowding, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult



FIGURE 3.18: Crowding, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

Households with two Māori adults

There was an overall decline in crowding for households with two Māori adults between 1981 and 2006. It increased slightly for multifamily households between 2001 and 2006. Multi-family households were more than twice as likely to be crowded as were one-family households. The high point for crowding in this series was right at the start in 1981, 15 years before the peak in low rental affordability as mentioned for one-Māori-adult households.

3.4 Health

3.4.4 Health-related benefits

Indicator definition: The proportion of all households with one/two Māori adults present

and with at least one adult receiving either a sickness or invalid's benefit.

Summary points for health-related benefits

Households with one Māori adult

There was at least a doubling in the receipt of health-related benefits between 1981 and 2006. The largest increases were for single-parent families between 1991 and 1996 / 2001 and 2006, and multi-family households between 1991 and 1996. There was some volatility between 1986 and 1991 and a generally steady increase from 1991.

Households with two Māori adults

There was an increase in receipt of healthrelated benefits for all household types with two Māori adults. The rates were much higher for multi-family households than for the other

 TABLE 3.19:
 Health-related benefits, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one

 Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	2.4	3.8	4.5	5.5	6.2	6.0
Single-parent families	2.0	3.3	2.8	5.8	6.4	8.7
Other one-family households	1.9	3.3	3.7	5.7	5.5	5.6
Multi-family households	3.6	7.1	5.6	9.2	8.3	9.0

 TABLE 3.20:
 Health-related benefits, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two

 Māori adults

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	3.5	4.3	6.5	9.0	10.1	9.7
Other one-family households	3.1	4.9	6.0	8.9	8.6	8.7
Multi-family households	5.0	7.8	9.4	12.9	12.5	11.8



FIGURE 3.19: Health-related benefits, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult



FIGURE 3.20: Health-related benefits, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

household types, at all time points. Households with two Māori parents were generally more likely to be in receipt of health-related benefits than those with only one Māori adult.

3.4.5 Smoking

Indicator definition: The proportion of all households with one or two Māori adults present and with at least one adult who regularly smokes cigarettes.

Questions on cigarette smoking behaviour were included in the 1981, 1996 and 2006 Censuses. Respondents were asked about current smoking and previous smoking. The questions were based on self-reported cigarette smoking and were only for respondents aged 15 or older. Consequently census data is likely to underreport smoking prevalence. However, the use of similar questions in the various census forms does enable a useful examination of changes in smoking prevalence across time.

TABLE 3.21: Parental smoking, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1996 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	61.2	45.4	40.7
Single-parent families	70.2	65.4	64.7
Other one-family households	70.4	57.3	51.7
Multi-family households	77.7	67.6	65.2

TABLE 3.22: Parental smoking, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

Household category	1981 (%)	1996 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	70.3	56.1	55.3
Other one-family households	79.4	70.9	67.4
Multi-family households	86.0	72.7	71.1



FIGURE 3.21: Parental smoking, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with one Māori adult



FIGURE 3.22: Parental smoking, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with two Māori adults

Tobacco use has a major negative effect on Māori health outcomes – smoking is a significant contributing factor to Māori/non-Māori health inequalities (Ministerial Committee on Drug Policy, 2007). About one-third of Māori deaths are attributable to smoking (Laugesen & Clements, 1998). The deaths of 33 Māori children per year from sudden infant death syndrome are attributable to passive smoking (Ministry of Health, 1999). Tobacco use is associated with higher rates of various chronic diseases in Māori adults and second-hand smoke is associated with higher rates of asthma and infectious diseases in Māori children (Ministry of Health, 2004). Parental smoking is a valuable measure as familial smoking is associated with both smoking initiation and environmental exposure to second-hand smoke.

Summary points for smoking Households with one Māori adult

There was an overall marked decrease 1981–2006 in the proportion of one-Māori-adult households with a parent smoking, with most of this decrease occurring between 1981 and 1996, partly due to this being a longer interval than 1996–2006. The decrease in proportion was markedly slower for single-parent families and multi-family households, leading to an increased disparity between these household types and couples without children/other one-family households. Large changes in prevalence suggest that it is possible to change household exposure to smoking.

Households with two Māori adults

There was an overall marked decrease since 1981 in the proportion of all types of two-Māoriadult households with a parent smoking. Again the bulk of the change occurred 1981–1996 and the change was slower for single-parent families and multi-family households. The prevalence of parental smoking was higher at all time points for two-Māori-adult than for one-Māori-adult households. This difference is likely in part due to the higher prevalence of smoking among Māori adults compared with non-Māori adults. The persistence of high household smoking prevalences indicates that Māori children continue to be highly exposed to smoking environments at home.

4 DISCUSSION

4.1 Changes in household composition

There were significant changes in household composition among Māori families/households over the period (Table 2.1), such as a steady increase in the proportion that were couples without children. There was a similar increase in single-parent families but this appeared to stabilise from 1991 on. Associated with these was a steady decrease in the proportion of households that were couples with children. Multi-family households made up a relatively low proportion throughout; they increased slightly between certain time points, and the spikes seemed to correlate to changes in housing costs, e.g. the elimination of market rentals. This is more likely than changes in cultural phenomena such as moving in with older relatives, and if that were the case we would see a steady increase in these family types rather than the peaks and troughs pattern evident.

The increase in couples without children could have been caused by a demographic transition with baby boomers' children becoming adults and leaving home. Single-parent family numbers continued to increase, but they made up a lower proportion of total families in 2006 than in 1991. Numbers of couples only plus others also increased, possibly due to couples taking in boarders or other family members to contribute to household finances or because of pressure in the rental and home ownership markets. The elimination of market rentals could have played a part as mentioned above. Analysis of these changes in household composition are subject to consistent categorisation/definition on the part of Statistics New Zealand, the effect of which can be seen for instance in Table 2.1 where 'two one-parent families' dropped off in 2001 and appeared to be replaced by 'other two-family households'. All of these explanations are speculation on the authors' part, as we did not undertake a separate analysis of the housing literature to attempt to verify them.

In respect of adult educational attainment, there was an overall decline (i.e. improvement) in the indicator driven by a cohort effect of increasing educational attainment 1981–2006. This cohort effect means that more people have educational qualifications in the general population, and thus in the Māori population as well, and the increases for Māori are part of this general population trend towards higher qualifications.

Decreases in lack of post-secondary educational attainment represent major improvements for Māori education during this period, but Māori participation in post-secondary education remains low. This may be linked to a flow-on from the earlier lack of educational attainment (although this improved as well, as above).

Relative changes in rates of long working hours over the period were lower for couples without children and other one-family households and higher for single-parent families and multi-family households. As these two latter household types were observed as the most likely to be on low incomes, one possible explanation is that they could have been moving towards working more than one job and/or additional casual work to get more income into the household.

Rates of home ownership increased 1981-1991 for all household types except for singleparent families, and decreased for all 1996-2006. The shift away from owner-occupied dwelling for Māori overall may reflect how home ownership is subject to changes in government policy and market shifts brought about by lower interest rates, investment patterns of ageing New Zealanders and the real estate investment priorities of New Zealand. There are push-pull patterns evident in any market but with housing becoming more expensive during this period, households and families changed their living circumstances. A 2006 report on Māori housing experiences found that home ownership rates for Māori were lower than for the general population and had been falling since the 1950s (Centre for Housing Research & Te Puni Kōkiri, 2006). The main reasons for this were:

High and rising housing costs and difficulty obtaining finance; lack of knowledge about home ownership; difficulty of accessing services and information; low motivation; discrimination; high bureaucratic costs in both urban and rural environments; and high development costs especially in rural areas. (ibid., p. 11)

There were large relative increases across all family types for low rental affordability between 1986 and 1996, with slight decreases between then and 2006. There were large differences by family type with single-parent families and other one-family households faring worst. The largest increase was between 1986 and 1991, most likely due to the introduction of a government market rental policy which had a flow-on effect for some household types.

There was at least a doubling in the receipt of health-related benefits for all household types between 1981 and 2006. There were large increases for single-parent families between 1991 and 1996 and again 10 years later between 2001 and 2006. This shift could have been in part due to changes in government policy in relation to moving people off the Domestic Purposes Benefit.

Two-Māori-adult households were consistently more likely to have at least one adult in receipt of health-related benefits than one-Māori-adult families. This may reflect a sicker population with more injuries, including workrelated injuries for Māori workers living in households with Māori partners. It may be related to their jobs, where injury or environmental exposures are more likely. This would need to be the subject of further investigation.

Culture-related indicators were unfortunately difficult to get access to. One possible indicator could be that identified from Te Hoe Nuku Roa, in which they described the extent to which whānau are involved with whānau and marae as a possible health indicator (Stevenson et al., no date). This literature refers to the positive and beneficial link between whānau involvement and marae participation and health, which was demonstrated by Te Hoe Nuku Roa (ibid.). Whānau that are blood related and not residing in the same household, but do play an important part in each other's lives, report higher self-rated health status.

To this extent, census data on face-to-face contact including for those living in another household may be an important cultural indicator. We must treat this with caution, however, as we cannot assume that all whānau interactions are beneficial. For example in the cases of family violence, child abuse and neglect, family members are most often the perpetrators (Connolly & Doolan, 2007).

Te Hoe Nuku Roa concluded that high levels of involvement with whānau reflect:

the quantity and quality of the participants' social relationships in general. The support and sense of social inclusion concomitant with good social relationships are most likely the primary factors behind the health benefits of whānau involvement found in this report. (Stevenson et al., no date, p. 17) The same study also found a weaker and not necessarily causal relationship between whānau involvement and smoking. A number of reasons for this are posited, but not proven. For example, smoking may be indicative of poor family functioning such as onset of adolescent smoking, or the nature of the household where those sharing a house/flat are more likely to smoke – 67.8 percent compared with 47.9 percent of households headed by couples with children (ibid., p. 18). Interestingly our indicator of at least one adult who smokes in the household suggested a pattern of declining smoking among Māori households, but rates were still high relative to non-Māori households.

The interactions of the two cultural variables of whānau involvement and marae participation are influenced by other variables including socio-economic status and location such as distance from papa kāinga or whānau base. While this report does not analyse distance from papa kāinga or strength of iwi identity, it does identify variables relating to socio-economic status.

The following discussion section broadens the findings from the census to include material from Bryan Perry, Ministry of Social Development, around income inequality, because of the link between this and good health and other social outcomes (Tobias, Blakely, Matheson, Rasanathan, & Atkinson, 2009; World Health Organization, 2008). Furthermore, we know that the impacts of changes to the New Zealand economy have effects on Māori health both in the immediate and sometimes longer term, with Māori requiring longer periods to recover from economic dislocation (Blakely & McLeod, 2009).

4.2 Summary of changes in wellbeing for each domain

4.2.1 Income

Low income among Māori has long been identified as a problem, with poor Māori outcomes such as unemployment, poor health, less adequate housing, higher crime rates, higher accident fatality and lower educational attainment all being linked to Māori deprivation - "an impoverished racial minority" (Cross et al., 1990, p. 3). Good outcomes for Māori children are less likely when socio-economic deprivation is present both relative and real. Māori children feature disproportionately in this low-income population (Craig, 2009; Fletcher & Dwyer, 2008). The solution according to Cross et al. (1990) is the Government's and its agencies' promotion of Māori economic development. Child Poverty Action Group (CPAG), United Nations International Children's Fund (UNICEF) and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) concluded that income support for the most deprived families was essential to break the cycle of poverty (Blaiklock et al., 2002; OECD, 2009; Turner & Asher, 2008). Most importantly, UNICEF's report concluded that what governments did in respect of their family and child policies had a material impact on the wellbeing of children growing up in these societies. It was not simply a matter of wealthy countries doing better for their children, but of the types and levels of support provided by these countries, irrespective of their gross domestic product.

The view that Māori have within their grasp the ability to shape a positive future for themselves irrespective of their difficult circumstances (Durie, 1998a, 2009) has gained more currency over the past two decades. This is in keeping with a view that Māori autonomy is both distinctive and essential to Māori thriving economically, socially and politically. In a speech in November 2003, Hon. Tariana Turia said:

There is no doubt that whānau development is a major challenge. The issues we confront are gnawing at the very heart of our culture and identity as tāngata whenua and our future as whānau, hapū and iwi. We need to stick with our own pathways – and the challenge for government is that the public service must see where it can work alongside us – not determining the pathway forward. And in turn, we have to stop thinking that we need to change to fit the proposals dished out to us. Is the provision of government services what Tuini Ngawai was referring to when she said, "Kia tupato ki te mātauranga a te Pākehā. He patu tikanga – he patu mahara – he patu mauri", a reference to the imposition of the Western benefit system which she said would undermine our tikanga, our thinking and endanger our life force? (Walker, 2006, p. 17)

This view underpins the Whānau Ora Strategy (Whānau Ora Taskforce, 2009). The congruence between the desire for rangatiratanga by Māori, especially through the medium of iwi and whānau development resonates with neo-liberal commitments to autonomous and responsible action without recourse to the state (Kiro, 2001). Again, Cross et al. (1990) distinguish between economic principles and economic strategies and differences between Māori and Pākehā. They say:

Although the economic strategies of Māori and Pākehā have converged, at times through choice and at times through compulsion, the underlying economic principles of the two groups remain fundamentally different. That difference is rooted in concepts of ownership and associated systems for valuing resources and in the organisational structures and associated decision-making processes of the two groups. (ibid.) This may not be as accurate today as it was in 1990, with an increasing trend towards the 'corporatisation' of iwi and their emergence through Treaty settlements and Māori cultural renaissance, to being economic powers within their own right. The consequential organisation of their business along similar lines to other corporations blurs significant differences such as adherence to principles of wairua (spirituality) and oranga (the continuity of existence) over economic resources such as land. Iwi and Māori organisations could be argued to maintain the collective interests of their descendant beneficiaries in comparison to the individual (and collective) interests of shareholders.

These aspirations for Māori are, however, influenced by the reality of Māori inequality and lower incomes. Work done by Bryan Perry on household income before housing costs (BHC) indicates that since 1988, Māori household income has been markedly less than European/ Pākehā income. Māori income increased the least in real terms between 1988 and 2007 and declined by over 25 percent in the 4 years to 1992 (see Table 4.1). The persistent inequality in household income (BHC) is apparent when comparing median income of European/Pākehā households with that of households of other ethnicities (Perry, 2008).

The 2009 Household Incomes Report provides information on the material wellbeing of New Zealanders as indicated by their household incomes 1982–2008. Household after-tax income is affected by a range of factors: wage rates, hours worked by the adults in the

TABLE 4.1: Real equivalised median household income (BHC) by ethnicity, 1988–2007 (\$2007)

					(-),	(+	
	1988	1990	1992	1994	1996	1998	2001	2004	2007
NZ Māori	\$20,200	\$18,200	\$14,800	\$15,000	\$17,800	\$18,800	\$20,100	\$20,800	\$20,400
European/ Pākehā	\$24,300	\$24,200	\$21,800	\$21,500	\$22,300	\$24,300	\$24,800	\$27,900	\$28,600
Pacific	\$19,800	\$17,300	\$15,700	\$14,100	\$15,500	\$17,100	\$16,600	\$19,000	\$22,300
Other	\$21,900	\$21,100	\$20,700	\$15,600	\$17,900	\$15,400	\$24,100	\$20,300	\$25,500
All	\$23,200	\$22,700	\$20,500	\$19,800	\$21,000	\$22,800	\$23,400	\$25,200	\$26,500

Source (Perry, 2008, p. 48)



FIGURE 4.1: Distribution of individuals across household income before housing costs (BHC) quintiles from the Household Economic Survey 2008 Source: Perry, 2009b, Table B.5.



FIGURE 4.2: Distribution of individuals across household income after housing costs (AHC) quintiles from the Household Economic Survey 2008 Source: Perry, 2009b, Table B.7.

household, rates of social assistance, returns on investment, personal income tax rates and tax credits for families with children (Working for Families) (Perry, 2009b). This includes an analysis by different measures such as before and after housing costs.

The unequal exposure to low income was also apparent in that report, which showed that in 2008, 52 percent of Māori lived in households in the lowest two quintiles of household income, and only 27 percent in the top two income quintiles, close to the inverse of the case for European/Pākehā (ibid.). Possible reasons for this could be the high number of children in these households relative to other household types, and the occupational groupings of Māori.

Similar patterns existed for household income after housing costs (AHC) with 46 percent of Māori living in households in the bottom two quintiles and 28 percent in the third quintile (ibid.). Again, the higher numbers of children relative to other household types and occupational groupings may partly explain this.

DISCUSSION

Although Māori incomes increased marginally 1988–2008, the relative inequality between Māori and European/Pākehā increased in the same period, as shown in Figure 4.3. Inequalities would likely be exacerbated if housing costs were also included, though they could be reduced with the removal of market rentals for lowest income families.



FIGURE 4.3: Ethnic inequality in median household income, ratio of ethnic groups' median income to European/Pākehā median income, 1988–2008 Source: Perry, 2008.



FIGURE 4.4: Proportion of households with housing costs > 30 percent of after-tax income, by income quintile, from the Household Economic Survey Source: Perry, 2009b.

Household type	1994 (%)	2001 (%)	2008 (%)
Single-parent	76	74	52
Two-parent	29	21	13

 TABLE 4.2:
 Child poverty by household type (60 percent fixed line measure, AHC): proportions of children below the threshold

Source: Perry, 2009b.

Census data over 25 years confirm many of these trends with significant differences for one-Māori-adult and two-Māori-adult households, where the latter tend to fare worse. Income was lower for single-parent families than for all others but multi-family households. The most likely explanation for this is that both of these family types are among the poorest. Singleparent families only have access to one income, and many are dependent upon government assistance. Multi-family households include those who live together to get the benefits of shared household resources and who may be unable to afford to live on their own.

All household categories experienced an increase in income 1981–2006, but they also all saw decreases in income during the 1981–1991 period, except for single-parent families, who were already on a relatively low threshold of income. The same was true for all types of two-Māori-adult households, which had lower median household incomes than their one-Māori-adult counterparts, with the exception of multi-family households. This was probably due to an increased likelihood of income sharing such as workers pooling their incomes together, rather than a reflection of those who are outside of the labour market.

In 2003–2004, part of the fifth Labour Government's response to falling household incomes for families was the introduction of Working for Families (WFF). The entitlement for WFF was to give an estimated 290,000 families with dependent children additional average income of \$66 a week, with an additional 28,000 gaining from Childcare Assistance an average of \$23 a week, around 99,500 gaining on Accommodation Supplement with an increase in assistance of \$19 a week, and an anticipated consequential decrease of child poverty, using a 60 percent median household income measure, by 30 percent (Cabinet Office, 2004). The entitlement depended on the number of dependent children, with those in work gaining an additional in-work tax credit to augment work-related costs. The marginal additional benefit for those families whose income source was government assistance came under intense criticism because of its effect of perpetuating child poverty for the poorest and most vulnerable children (Fletcher & Dwyer, 2008; Turner & Asher, 2008).

4.2.2 Education

The Ministry of Education's annual report on Māori education does not include census data as they are concerned with the characteristics of those passing through the system rather than the country as a whole. Their Ngā Haeata Mātauranga Annual Report on Māori Education for 2007/08 includes key measures such as participation and quality of early childhood education (ECE). It reports that 91 percent of Māori year 1 (new entrant) learners at school in 2007 participated in ECE compared with 86 percent in 2002 (Ministry of Education, 2009a).

Evidence from the Competent Children study suggests that children who are supported and nurtured by the adults in their lives to learn, grow and develop from the start, are more likely to become confident and competent learners, develop constructive behaviours and enjoy improved social outcomes (ibid.). Early experience of these factors is therefore important for developing effective learning for Māori students in ways that engage them in the education sector. This is especially true for early engagement with quality ECE.

The lifelong flow-on effects of quality ECE suggest that better supported early engagement would be beneficial for Māori outcomes. Literature is equivocal on the extent or nature of this benefit, but there is the suggestion of children under 2 years of age benefiting from strong attachment to their parent or primary caregiver before entering into ECE (Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000; Bennett, 2008).

Over the past 15 years the number of children attending ECE services has increased. Despite this improvement, Māori have been less likely to attend ECE services for sustained periods of time compared with non-Māori (ibid.). There is likely to be a cohort effect for those children who are socialised early into quality ECE that flows on to more positive experiences in primary and secondary school education, including a greater likelihood that they will stay in school.

The low level of post-secondary educational attainment among Māori is likely to be the end result of much earlier patterns of educational attainment. Māori children are tuning out at a very early age, maybe as young as 11 or 12. The difference between Māori and non-Māori children's education is apparent by this early age with fewer expectations of going on to tertiary study or further training among Māori than non-Māori. Fewer positive early experiences of school increase the chance of leaving school at an early age, and consequently fewer entering into post-secondary education. However, the long-term trend in census data shows that Māori are staying at school longer. In part this is due to the raising of the school-leaving age during the period, but it is also likely due to other factors such as more of their peers staying at school, both non-Māori and Māori, fewer job opportunities and a greater range of choices of schools such as Kura Tuarua, specialist schools such as those with religious instruction, and alternative education providers. Importantly rates of high achievement among Māori are increasing, but still around 30 percent of Māori are leaving secondary education with no qualification. There are significant gender differences with Māori boys doing poorly in relation to everyone else.

Inequities for Māori learners persist (Ministry of Education, 2009a), with the 1997 Chapple Report concluding that there was nothing significant about being Māori that affected education success. Rather, differences were due to socio-economic status, not ethnicity (Ministry of Education, 2009b). However, Harker (2007), in a re-analysis of the data, concluded that ethnicity was a significant factor in educational achievement over and above socio-economic status. This latter report suggested that the relationships between schools, teachers and students were crucial to Māori educational success.

4.2.3 Work

All one-Māori-adult household categories saw increasing rates of paid employment (a decline in the indicator) 1981–2006. However, the opposite was true for 1981–1991, and overall unemployment for Māori reached 25 percent by 1991. Unemployment increased for all ethnicities between 1986–1991, and it took 10 years for the recovery, i.e. not until 2001–2006 did figures get back to their 1981 levels, from our data. The impact of Māori unemployment during the international economic recession of 2008/09 is still being worked through, although last quarter 2009 statistics put Māori unemployment at 15.4 percent (Statistics New Zealand, 2010).

The Household Labour Force Survey (HLFS), conducted by Statistics New Zealand, is the official measure of unemployment in New Zealand. Overall unemployment rose from 4 percent in December 1986 to a peak of 10.7 percent in December 1991, before declining to 5.7 percent in December 2001 and then to 3.6 percent in June 2006. For Māori it rose from 10.7 percent in 1986 to a peak of 26.1

percent in 1992, remained above 15 percent throughout the 1990s and fell back to 10.2 percent in 2003. It fell to a record low of 7.9 percent in 2007 (Ministry of Social Development, 2004, 2009).

Our lack of paid work indicator showed that the highest levels were among single-parent families and multi-family households, the two types that consistently appear as among the most socio-economically disadvantaged households across time. For two-Māori-adult households, all household categories saw significant decreases in rates of paid employment 1981-1991 and then improvements through 2006, but only multi-family households ended the period with higher rates of paid employment than they started it. This is likely due to their having a greater number of people, among whom one or more will be working. This trend has since reversed again with the economic crisis of 2008. For couples without children there was no change overall, while for other one-family households there was a decline in the rate of paid employment over the 25 years. Again as discussed above, recovery from 1991 figures took about 10 years, and even then, labour force participation has not yet returned to pre-1986 levels.

There was a significant increase in proportions with at least one adult working 48 hours per week for all household types, in keeping with all other ethnicities during this 25-year period. This is despite incomes not increasing much and the cost of housing increasing. Couples without children and other one-family households saw the highest absolute increases in rates of long working hours. The low rates observed for single parent families may be due to their reliance on government income assistance through benefits over this period, though it should be noted that most single parents remain dependent on benefit assistance for only a few years before re-entering the labour market.

The trends for two-Māori-adult households were more consistent, with an overall increase in households working longer, with 2006 figures around double what they were in 1981. Multi-family households had the lowest rates of long working hours.

Casualisation of work means that lowincome families are likely to have less control over their working environment, with consequently less flexibility for negotiating working conditions suitable for children with families than other household types.



FIGURE 4.5: Labour force participation rate by ethnicity 1986–2009 Source: HLFS – Statistics New Zealand.

4.2.4 Housing

Home ownership decreased for all household types 1996–2006, due mainly to the higher cost of housing. Not living in an owner occupied dwelling showed no consistent pattern across this 25-year period (it goes up and down). This is likely to have resulted from the increased and high cost of housing relative to income (around seven times the average New Zealand yearly income compared with similar countries such as Australia where it is around three times the average yearly income). This has decreased housing affordability.

The effects of government policy and market volatility including interest rates, investment patterns and immigration also influence home ownership. The only exception to this trend of decreased affordability in our findings for one-Māori-adult households was for couples without children, which were much more likely to be living in their own home in 2006 than in 1981. The pattern for all household types was an increase in home ownership until 1991 followed by a decrease through 2006.

All types of two-Māori-adult households experienced similar decreases in home ownership rates from 1996 on (that is, housing became less affordable). There were noticeable decreases in home ownership rates for other one-family households and multi-family households, while again the reverse was true for couples without children. This last is likely to reflect the contribution of two incomes and fewer expenses relating to the costs of raising children, placing them in a stronger position to afford to buy a house.

Not owning your own home has a number of effects other than immediate shelter. It increases the likelihood that you will be mobile, have to share with other households if you have dependents, and have less security over your tenure, all of which impact on health and other social outcomes such as educational attainment. Higher levels of mobility are correlated with higher rates of school truancy and absences. Rental affordability declined for all types of one-Māori-adult households over the period. There were large differences by family type with single-parent families and other one-family households faring worst. The largest decrease in affordability was between 1986 and 1991, for all household types. The most likely cause of this was the impact of the market rental policy by government.

Two-Māori-adult households had surprisingly lower rates of low rental affordability than their one-Māori-adult counterparts. A possible explanation for this is the clustering of these families in poorer geographical areas, including on turangawaewae and rural communities. As with one-Māori-adult households, 1986–1991 saw big increases in low rental affordability.

There was an overall decline over the period, for all household categories, which is a good sign. Crowding peaked in 1986 for one-Māoriadult households, 10 years before a peak in low rental affordability and 5 years prior to an increase in unemployment. This is interesting given the increased cost of housing and is therefore more likely to reflect an increase in state housing stock between 1996–2006.

There were high rates of crowding for multifamily households with over 50 percent living in crowded dwellings even in 2006. This is not such a surprise given the nature of multi-family households with more than one family living together by definition. There was little change in crowding rates for single parent families after 1996.

For two-Māori-adult households there was an overall decline in crowding from 1981 on. However, there was an increase for multi-family households between 2001 and 2006. For two-Māori-adult households crowding was at its highest right at the start of the period, 15 years before a peak in low rental affordability. Again, there were very high rates of crowding for multi-family households, remaining at over 50 percent in 2006, double the figure for onefamily households.

There are correlations between crowding and health and educational outcomes. Given this, the reduction in crowding should have had a positive effect on these, mitigating to some extent other negative trends such as low housing affordability.

4.3 Health

The census contains very little information about health status and behaviours. What is available is information on health-related income support in the form of the sickness and invalids' benefits, and information on smokers aged 15 years and over in the 1981, 1996 and 2006 censuses. A wealth of information exists on health from other sources, such as the New Zealand Health Survey, the Adolescent and Youth Health Survey, and the Child and Youth Epidemiology Centre. Other sources of information exist on Māori health such as the regular publication of Hauora: Māori Standards of Health produced by the University of Otago, which provides health summary information on Māori.

For this study we were unable to locate other published, national-level data on Māori cultural connectedness such as participation in kapa haka, marae and other whānau events, or the use of te reo. However, Te Hoe Nuku Roa has early publications suggesting strong links between cultural connectedness and good health outcomes (Stevenson et al., no date).

The General Social Survey does have published data on ethnic differences in face-to-face contact with members of the family living in other households, see Figure 4.6.

There is a likely causal association between changing economic inequalities and changing health inequalities between ethnic groups, with a suggested lag time of less than 5 years. Understanding and addressing the distribution of determinants of health and appropriate health services are supported by findings from abridged life tables for Māori from 1951 to 2006 in work by Tobias et al. (2009).

4.3.1 Frequency of face-to-face contact with family members living in other households

Households of all ethnic groups showed evidence of regular contact with family members



FIGURE 4.6: Face-to-face contact with family members living in other households, by ethnic group Source: General Social Survey, Statistics New Zealand.

in other households, with Māori and Pacific showing higher proportions in the categories indicating more frequent contact. They were followed closely by European and Asian households in the "at least once a week" category.

4.4 Māori in Australia

Excluded from this census analysis are those 16 percent and rising of the Māori population who have moved overseas, particularly to Australia. Termed 'mozzies', these Māori Aussies were recorded at 92,912 with Māori ancestry based on the 2006 Australian census. This is considered an underestimation, with other figures between 115,000 and 125,000 Māori living in Australia (Te Puni Kōkiri, 2007). Unfortunately we do not know much more about the profile of these Māori, for instance whether or not they would have higher levels of education and different flow-on effects into income, occupation, housing and health indicators.

Most of the Māori living in Australia reported moving for work or a better job. A combination of pull factors were also included, such as better weather, higher wages, joining whānau there; push factors included negatives in social dysfunction and perceived prejudice. Many Māori in Australia mentioned that they missed their extended whānau, and some had taken on new notions of whānau to replace them (ibid.). They were quite likely to say that they would return to New Zealand someday (36 percent, definitely; 26.2 percent, probably).

These Māori work and live in a trans-Tasman labour market. As Hamer points out:

In this era of globalisation, and especially given the ongoing levels of connectedness within whānau, hapū and iwi, it seems logical to measure Māori progress and achievement beyond the confines of the New Zealand state. What impact, for example, has out-migration had on the sum health of te reo Māori, or on Māori participation in tertiary education, or on overall Māori life expectancy or rates of imprisonment? (Hamer, 2009, p. 80)

Māori in Australia enjoy higher wages and a better standard of living than those in New Zealand, undoubtedly driving further migration over the past few decades. However, Māori economic viability in the Australian labour market may be more vulnerable when there is an economic downturn as recently experienced in both New Zealand and Australia. This could have a major influence on their decision to return to New Zealand (Hamer, 2009).

4.5 Strengths and limitations of the study

The main strength of this study is the availability of data from the census, which, in principle, provides coverage of the whole population. This facilitates the analysis of changes in Māori household composition and wellbeing for a range of household types. This type of analysis cannot be conducted with sample surveys such as the HES and HLFS because of sample size limitations.

The limitations of the study are linked to the range of information collected in the census. First, information that could be useful for constructing indicators of Māori households is not available through the census. Second, although this research uses repeated cross-sectional information to create time series data on different groups of people, it must be recognised that this does not create a true longitudinal study. For example, families and households may enter and exit the census by migration, and the composition of existing units will change (with altered domestic arrangements). Thus it must be borne in mind that the families and households featuring in the analysis are not necessarily the same units, or composed of the same individuals, from one census to the next.

For further information on the strengths and limitations of using census data to measure

household composition and wellbeing, see Milligan et al. (2006).

4.6 Conclusion

There were significant changes in Māori households over the past 25 years. These were similar in most instances to changes experienced in households of other ethnicities over the same period, but the extent of the changes and sometimes the direction varied for Māori households.

There were important gains for Māori households, such as a reduction in crowding, improvements in secondary educational attainment and improvements for some categories of Māori households in respect of income. However, significant inequalities remain among Māori households and between Māori and non-Māori households (see Cotterell et al. 2008a). In many indicators inequalities increased during the period 1986–2006, though evidence of improvements in income for families with dependent children is likely as a result of some flow through of Working for Families based on HES and HLFS data.

There are a number of indicators that could have been included in this report but were unavailable at the time of writing. These would augment the included indicators; examples include paternal education and identity by iwi. The measures that are included in this report are a little confusing as they are often stated in the negative such as lack of employment rather than employment. For proportion-based indicators used in this report, large values are bad, i.e. a large figure means more low income, a greater lack of paid work and so forth.

Lastly, and importantly, many of the measures are threshold measures, and while providing us with valuable information, these do not facilitate a more trend-based analysis that would improve our understanding of changes that occurred for Māori households over the period. It would be extremely valuable to augment these with other data, including additional research and data from other sources to better explain and predict outcomes for Māori households/families. This would allow more specific understanding of policy impacts and services planning.

This report does not attempt to identify or explain other policy implications arising from the data, but rather to provide basic information so that others can do this. We note, however, that there is any number of policies and recommendations in all of the areas considered in the report. The Ministry of Social Development's Social Report provides an excellent basis for comparison and unpacking some the trends for Māori households/families in conjunction with this report. One other specific example of currently available information that would expand our understanding of the findings of this report is that on home ownership. The Family Centre Social Policy Research Unit for Māori Health and Development at Massey University in their report for the Centre for Housing Research Aotearoa New Zealand and Te Puni Kōkiri, recommend building on policies like Low Deposit Rural Lending, Welcome Home Loans, Kiwisaver and Home Ownership Education, along with new initiatives to further develop realistic savings incentives, schemes for households on low to middle incomes, and creative partnerships between public and private organisations, and to encourage private lending institutions to enable affordable mortgages and rent-to-buy schemes, suspensory loans or low interest subsidised loans and finally, further education targeting Māori so they better understand home ownership (Centre for Housing Research & Te Puni Kōkiri, 2006).

REFERENCES

- Blaiklock, A. J., Kiro, C. A., Belgrave, M., Low, W., Davenport, E., & Hassall, I. B. (2002). When the invisible hand rocks the cradle: New Zealand children in a time of change. Florence, Italy: Innocenti Research Centre.
- Blakely, T., & McLeod, M. (2009). Will the financial crisis get under the skin and affect our health? Learning from the past to predict the future. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 122(1307), 76–83.
- Cabinet Office (2004). *Reform of social assistance:* Working for Families package: Revised recommendations. Cabinet Minute, CAB Min 04 13/4, 3 May, Cabinet Office, Wellington.
- Callister, P. (2006). Ethnic measurement as a policymakingtool. In R. Openshaw & E. Rata (Eds.), *Politics* of ethnic boundary-making. Basingstoke: Palgrave.
- Callister, P., Didham, R., Newell, J., & Potter, D. (2007). "Family ethnicity": Knitting a jumper using two woolly concepts. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*, 32, 32–48.
- Centre for Housing Research & Te Puni Kōkiri (2006). *Māori housing experiences: Emerging trends and issues*. Wellington: Research Centre for Māori Health and Development, Massey University.
- Connolly, M., & Doolan, M. (2007). *Lives cut short: Child death by maltreatment*. Wellington: Dunmore Press.
- Cotterell, G., von Randow, M., & Wheldon, M. (2008a). *Measuring changes in family and whānau wellbeing using census data*, 1981–2006: *A preliminary analysis*. Wellington: Statistics New Zealand.
- Cotterell, G., von Randow, M., & Wheldon, M. (2008b). An examination of the links between parental educational qualifications, family structure and family wellbeing, 1981–2006. Wellington: Ministry of Education.
- Cotterell, G., von Randow, M., McTaggart, S., Sua'ali'i-Sauni, T., Patrick, D., & Davis, P.

- (2009). Pacific families now and in the future: Changing Pacific household composition and wellbeing 1981–2006. Wellington: Families Commission.
- Cotterell, G., & Wheldon, M., Milligan, S. (2007). Measuring changes in family wellbeing in New Zealand 1981–2001. Social Indicators Research, 86(3), 453–467.
- Craig, L. (2009). *The New Zealand children's* social health monitor. Dunedin: University of Otago.
- Cross, T., Wilson, M., Earle, D., Scott, G., Kilby, C., & Chan, S. (August 1990). Iwi and whānau economic development: Social problems and policy implications. Paper presented at The New Zealand Economic Association's Sesquicentennial Conference, The University of Auckland.
- Cunningham, C. (2008). Diversity and equity for Māori. In K. Dew & A. Matheson (Eds.), Understanding health inequalities in New Zealand (pp. 55–66). Dunedin: Otago University Press.
- Durie, M. (1998a). *Te Mana, Te Kāwanatanga: The politics of Māori self-determination*(1st ed.). Auckland: Oxford University Press.
- Durie, M. (1998b). *Whaiora: Māori health development* (2nd ed.). Auckland: Oxford University Press.
- Durie, M. (2009). *Pae Ora: Māori health horizons*. Unpublished manuscript, Palmerston North.
- Errington, C., Cotterell, G., von Randow, M.,
 & Milligan, S. (2008). A guide to using data from the New Zealand Census: 1981–2006.
 Wellington: Statistics New Zealand.
- Families Commission (2008). *The kiwi nest*. Wellington.
- Fletcher, M., & Dwyer, M. (2008). *A fair go for all children* (Investigation). Wellington: Office of the Children's Commissioner.
- Hamer, P. (2009). Measuring Māori in Australia: Insights and obstacles. Social Policy Journal of New Zealand, 36, 77–81.

Harker, R. (2007). Ethnicity and school achievement in New Zealand: Some data to supplement the Biddulph et al. (2003). Best Evidence Synthesis: Secondary analysis of the Progress at School and Smithfield datasets for the Iterative Best Evidence Synthesis Programme. Wellington: Ministry of Education.

Jensen, J. (1988). Income equivalences and the estimation of family expenditure on children (Note). Wellington: Department of Social Welfare (unpublished).

Kiro, C. A. (2001). Kimihia Hauora Māori: Māori health policy and practice. Massey University, Auckland.

Laugesen, M., & Clements, M. (1998). Cigarette smoking mortality among Māori, 1954–2028. Wellington: Te Puni Kōkiri.

Marie, D., Fergusson, D. M., & Boden, J. M. (2008a). Cultural identity and pregnancy/ parenthood by age 25: Evidence from a New Zealand birth cohort. Social Policy Journal of New Zealand (under review).

Marie, D., Fergusson, D. M., & Boden, J. M. (2008b). Ethnic identity and intimate partner violence in a New Zealand birth cohort. Social Policy Journal of New Zealand, 33, 126–145.

Marie, D., Fergusson, D. M., & Boden, J. M. (2008c). Links between ethnic identification, cannabis use and dependence, and life outcomes in a New Zealand birth cohort. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 42, 780–788.

Marie, D., Fergusson, D. M., & Boden, J. M.
(2008d). Educational achievement in Māori: The roles of cultural identity and social disadvantage. *Australian Journal of Education*, 52, 183–196.

Marie, D., Fergusson, D. M., & Boden, J. M. (2009). Ethnic identity and exposure to maltreatment in childhood: Evidence from a New Zealand birth cohort. Social Policy Journal of New Zealand, 36, 154–171.

Milligan, S., Fabian, A., Coope, P., & Errington, C. (2006). Family wellbeing indicators from the 1981–2001 New Zealand Censuses. Statistics New Zealand: Wellington.

Ministerial Committee on Drug Policy (2007). National Drug Policy 2007–2012. Wellington: Ministry of Health.

Ministry of Education (2009a). Ngā Haeata Mātauranga – The annual report on Māori education, 2007/08. Wellington.

Ministry of Education (2009b). Ka Hikitia – Managing for success: The Māori education strategy 2008–2012. Wellington. Ministry of Health (1999). Our health our future: Hauora Pakari, Koiora Roa: The health of New Zealanders, 1999. Wellington.

Ministry of Health (2004). *Clearing the smoke: A five-year plan for tobacco control in New Zealand (2004–2009)*. Wellington.

Ministry of Social Development (2004). The social report (te pūrongo oranga tangata) 2004: Indicators of social wellbeing in New Zealand. Wellington.

Ministry of Social Development (2009). *The social report (te pūrongo oranga tangata) 2009*. Wellington.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2009). *Doing better for children*. Retrieved 9 April, 2010 from http:// www.oecd.org/els/social/childwellbeing

Perry, B. (1997). Incubated in terror: Neurodevelopmental factors in the "cycle of violence". In J. D. Osofsky (Ed.), *Children in a Violent Society* (pp. 124–149). New York: Guilford Press.

Perry, B. (2008). Household incomes in New Zealand: Trends in indicators of inequality and hardship 1982–2007. Wellington: Ministry of Social Development.

Perry, B. (2009a). Statistics New Zealand Household Economic Survey (HES). Unpublished personal communication to Liz Craig of the New Zealand Children's Social Health Monitor. Wellington: Ministry of Social Development.

Perry, B. (2009b). Household incomes in New Zealand: trends in indicators of inequality and hardship, 1982 to 2008. Wellington: Ministry of Social Development.

Pool, I. (1990). *Te iwi Māori: A New Zealand population past, present and projected*. Auckland: The University of Auckland.

Pool, I., & Johnstone, K. (1999). The life courses of New Zealand women: fertility, family formation and structure, fertility regulation, education, work and economic wellbeing. Hamilton: University of Waikato.

Rochford, M. (1996). Comment: Methodological issues relating to families and households. *Social Policy Journal of New Zealand*, 6, 177–182.

Shonkoff, J. P., & Phillips, D. A. (Eds.) (2000). From neurons to neighborhoods: The science of early child development. Washington: National Academy Press.

Statistics New Zealand (2001). Introduction to the Census (2001) – Reference report. Wellington.

Statistics New Zealand (2004). *Report of the review* of the measurement of ethnicity. Wellington.

Statistics New Zealand (2005). Consumers Price Index – Information releases. Consumers Price Index, 2005. Retrieved 9 April, 2010, from http://www.stats.govt.nz/methods_and_services/ information-releases/consumers-price-index.aspx

Statistics New Zealand (2006). *Introduction to the census*. Retrieved 14 April, 2010, from http://www.stats.govt.nz/Census/about-2006-census/introduction-to-the-census/confidentiality. aspx.

Statistics New Zealand (2007). A report on the 2006 Post-enumeration Survey. Wellington.

Statistics New Zealand (2009a). Births and deaths: March 2009 quarter. Wellington.

Statistics New Zealand (2009b). Hot off the press: Gross Domestic Product June 2009 quarter. Wellington.

Statistics New Zealand (2010). Household Labour Force Survey: December 2009 quarter – media release. Retrieved 14 April, 2010, from http://www.stats.govt.nz/browse_for_stats/ work_income_and_spending/Employment/ HouseholdLabourForceSurvey_MRDec09qtr. aspx Stevenson, B. S., Black, T. E., Christensen, I. S., Durie, A. E., Durie, M. E., Forster, E. D., Rolls, K. R., & Taiapa, J. T. (no date). Best outcomes for Māori: Te Hoe Nuku Roa Māori profiles project. Palmerston North: Massey University.

Te Puni Kōkiri (2007). Māori in Australia. *Kōkiri,* 05.

Tobias, M., Blakely, T., Matheson, D., Rasanathan, K., & Atkinson, J. (2009). Changing trends in indigenous inequalities in mortality: lessons from New Zealand. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 38(6), 1711–1722.

Turner, N., & Asher, I. (2008). Health perspectives on child poverty. In S. St John & D. Wynd (Eds.), Left behind: How social and economic inequalities damage New Zealand children. Auckland: Child Poverty Action Group.

Walker, T. (2006). *Whānau is whānau*. Wellington: Families Commission.

Whānau Ora Taskforce (2009). Whānau Ora: A whānau-centred approach to Māori wellbeing.

World Health Organization (2008). *Closing the gap in a generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health*. Geneva: World Health Organization.

APPENDIX A. WORKING WITH DATA FROM THE CENSUS

Access to the data used in this study was provided by Statistics New Zealand in a secure environment, the Data Laboratory, designed to give effect to the confidentiality provisions of the Statistics Act 1975. Personal identification information supplied on the original census forms, such as name and address, is not carried over to the computer records held by Statistics New Zealand, and these details are therefore not available to Data Laboratory users. Further omissions eliminate the linking of individuallevel records in the Data Laboratory data sets back to respondents.

In addition, all Data Laboratory output is subject to confidentiality rules set by Statistics

New Zealand to further protect respondent confidentiality. The current rules are given in Statistics New Zealand (2006). In particular, all frequencies in this report are randomly rounded to one of the nearest multiples of 3 (e.g. a count of 5 could become 3 or 6) to further guard confidentiality (Statistics New Zealand, 2001). All percentages are calculated based on rounded counts. Derived statistics such as medians and quantiles are not rounded. Given that the numbers presented are typically very large, rounding is expected to have no effect on the conclusions drawn.

APPENDIX B. USING CENSUS DATA TO MEASURE WELLBEING

The census contains a wealth of information on a wide range of demographic, social and economic issues covering the entire population – or at least those who completed the population census forms. The primary advantages of using census data to assess wellbeing are as follows:

- It allows for an assessment of continuity and change in societal patterns over a long period of time.
- Information obtained from the census covers (almost) all members of the population. It therefore allows us to examine the wellbeing of all New Zealanders, and can provide information on small population groupings in a way that sample surveys rarely can.
- The census collects information on all family members in the household, enabling us to conduct family-level analysis. Such an analysis acknowledges the fundamental interdependence between family members and enables us to see how the impact of the changes since the mid-1980s has varied according to family type.
- Although the census collects no information on the subjective elements of wellbeing, many of the core outcomes (good jobs, adequate income, education and health) identified by New Zealanders as promoting wellbeing are based on objective living conditions, which are captured (with the limitations outlined below) in the census.

The limitations associated with using census data to measure changes in family wellbeing are as follows:

- The range and depth of information collected, the frequency of collection of some data, and the way in which family types are defined and measured is limited.
- The selection of indicators is constrained by the information available through census data. Family and household wellbeing may be influenced by other factors (e.g. the perceived quality of family/household relationships) for which no census information is available. This lack of suitable information also necessitates some indicators being indirect proxy measures of a particular attribute. For example, the health indicator describes changes in the number of people receiving health-related benefits, rather than being an actual measure of the physical health of a family.
- A lack of data availability may constrain timeseries analysis. Some census questions that may be relevant to family/household wellbeing are no longer asked (e.g. on housing insulation), while other census questions (e.g. on smoking) are included only on an irregular basis. This means the monitoring of changes in some domains is less frequent than ideal.
- A lack of in-depth information may place limits on interpreting change in some indicators. For example, because income data are collected in bands rather than in discrete amounts, indicator construction requires some estimation.
- The census definition of 'family' only incorporates those family members who live within the same household. Census wellbeing measures

may thus be poor indicators for families whose members do not all reside within the one household. In particular, this relates to parents who usually share custody of their children, and children who live across two households. The ability to monitor the wellbeing of those in extended family situations is also constrained by this household-based definition of family.

With the above issues kept in mind, an extensive process of data investigation preceded the construction of wellbeing indicators. Data collected in each census between 1981 and 2006 were checked for consistency and comparability over time. Once this process was complete, a range of indicators whose purpose was to capture aspects of family and household wellbeing were constructed.

B.1 Median equivalised income – Revised Jensen Scale

Median gross household income is not a suitable indicator of the relative standard of living of a household compared with other households because it does not take into account household composition. For example, a one-adult household with a median annual household income of \$45,000 is likely to have access to a higher standard of living than a two-adult, three-child household with the same income. In order to compare household income across a range of household types, an equivalence scale is used to equivalise gross household income.

The equivalence scale used for this study is the Revised Jensen Scale (RJS), which is a New Zealand scale derived by John Jensen of the Ministry of Social Development. Its reference point is a two-adult couple-only household, which is given a value of 1. All other household types are expressed in terms of the equivalent income for the reference two-adult household, with adjustments made for the age and number of children. The scale contains adjustments which take into account that children typically need less income than adults in order to maintain a comparable standard of living. Gross equivalised household income is calculated by dividing annual gross household income by the appropriate value for the household on the Revised Jensen Scale.

For example, a two-adult household with an annual income of \$40,000 would have an annual income equivalised with the Revised Jensen Scale of \$40,000 since its rating on the Jensen scale is 1. However, if an 8-year-old child was added to the household, its Jensen Scale Rating would change to 1.19 and therefore its equivalised income would be \$40,000/1.19 = \$33,613.

B.2 Household crowding index

The crowding index is calculated using the equivalised crowding index (ECI), which is used by Statistics New Zealand and takes into account the number of bedrooms in a dwelling and the household composition. The formula weights each individual in a couple relationship as one-half, as in a shared bedroom. Children aged less than 10 years are treated in the same manner, and then all other members of the household are given a weight of one. The result is an equivalised number of people per bedroom. The formula is:

ECI = [(1/2 number of children under 10 years) + (number of couples) + (all other people aged 10+)]

number of bedrooms

Any value in excess of 1.0 represents a crowded dwelling (Statistics New Zealand, 2007).

APPENDIX C. WELLBEING INDICATORS FOR THE REMAINDER OF THE POPULATION

The following tables present the indicators examined in this report for the non-Māori population, e.g. using our definitions, households with no Māori adult present. This allows interested readers to compare levels of wellbeing for each household type for each indicator.

APPENDIX TABLE C.1:	Median equivalised household income, by household category, 1981–2006,
	for households with no Māori adult

Household estagen/	1001	1096	1001	1006	2001	2006
Household category	1901	1900	1991	1990	2001	2000
Couples without children	\$42,308	\$39,561	\$38,936	\$41,193	\$43,205	\$50,401
Single-parent families	\$22,910	\$22,664	\$20,071	\$19,740	\$19,827	\$25,003
Other one-family households	\$40,847	\$38,017	\$38,407	\$39,182	\$43,205	\$48,623
Multi-family households	\$26,154	\$25,054	\$23,338	\$26,046	\$24,424	\$29,988

APPENDIX TABLE C.2: Low income, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with no Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	24.7	6.9	7.9	17.8	15.8	19.6
Single-parent families	48.2	39.8	47.8	48.0	52.3	48.9
Other one-family households	13.2	13.0	10.5	12.6	12.7	13.6
Multi-family households	42.6	36.8	34.9	36.7	42.4	39.9

APPENDIX TABLE C.3: Lack of any educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with no Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	43.8	27.3	24.4	31.6	19.4	15.3
Single-parent families	64.5	53.1	48.7	51.1	33.5	29.3
Other one-family households	32.5	21.6	17.5	19.3	9.3	7.0
Multi-family households	53.1	46.5	40.3	45.7	30.2	24.8

APPENDIX TABLE C.4: Lack of post-secondary educational attainment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with no Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	62.4	46.0	40.2	44.8	39.9	34.8
Single-parent families	83.3	73.7	66.7	71.1	64.6	62.6
Other one-family households	53.3	39.0	32.6	37.0	32.3	28.1
Multi-family households	74.3	66.6	57.8	61.3	56.9	53.7

APPENDIX TABLE C.5: Lack of paid employment, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with no Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	36.5	38.7	40.4	35.0	31.2	27.2
Single-parent families	57.2	57.3	61.3	54.7	46.1	41.7
Other one-family households	5.0	5.7	10.2	9.4	8.1	6.6
Multi-family households	32.7	38.0	43.2	37.8	36.8	30.9

APPENDIX TABLE C.6: Long working hours, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with no Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	15.7	20.0	21.4	27.1	28.8	28.2
Single-parent families	5.2	6.6	7.1	8.1	9.1	9.4
Other one-family households	35.7	40.1	39.8	45.3	44.3	41.1
Multi-family households	15.9	16.4	16.3	20.5	19.0	20.1

APPENDIX TABLE C.7: Lack of home ownership, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with no Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	20.5	17.3	15.4	16.9	18.8	22.8
Single-parent families	35.7	33.8	35.7	41.5	45.4	51.9
Other one-family households	17.8	15.4	15.2	19.0	22.0	27.6
Multi-family households	30.0	28.3	25.2	31.4	36.0	38.8

APPENDIX TABLE C.8: Low rental affordability, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with no Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	15.2	14.0	23.8	29.9	29.3	30.6
Single-parent families	44.4	47.5	69.7	83.5	77.7	76.9
Other one-family households	25.7	32.5	48.3	59.3	57.9	59.3
Multi-family households	37.5	36.6	46.6	68.4	60.8	57.6

IVIAO	ri adult					
Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Single-parent families	21.2	19.3	17.7	14.3	13.9	14.0
Other one-family households	15.6	13.5	11.3	9.4	8.6	8.5
Multi-family households	53.4	56.3	48.8	43.9	41.1	38.6

APPENDIX TABLE C.9: Crowding, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with no Māori adult

APPENDIX TABLE C.10: Health-related benefits, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with no Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1986 (%)	1991 (%)	1996 (%)	2001 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	1.0	1.4	1.6	2.4	2.8	2.9
Single-parent families	1.2	2.4	2.5	4.4	4.9	6.5
Other one-family households	1.0	1.5	1.9	2.8	2.9	2.9
Multi-family households	2.1	5.4	4.6	6.5	6.6	6.9

APPENDIX TABLE C.11: Parental smoking, by household category, 1981–2006, for households with no Māori adult

Household category	1981 (%)	1996 (%)	2006 (%)
Couples without children	41.1	25.9	20.5
Single-parent families	51.2	45.0	40.0
Other one-family households	49.8	36.1	29.5
Multi-family households	54.0	43.5	37.1

APPENDIX D. INCOME AND INEQUALITY 2008 SUMMARY FINDINGS

Based on Perry (2008)

- 1. These measures do not capture the full impact of the 2008 international financial crisis.
- 2. The 2007–2008 HES captures the full impact of the WFF package implemented between 2004 and 2007. This resulted in the transfer of a considerable amount of money to low and middle income households with children.
- 3. The impact of material wellbeing from high housing costs relative to income is greatest for low-income households.
- From 2007 to 2008 median household incomes (BHC) rose 3.4 percent in real terms, following a rise of 14 percent from 2001 to 2007 (2.3 percent on average).
- 5. The impact of WFF from 2004 to 2008 is the only period in the last 25 years when low to middle household incomes have risen more quickly than incomes above the middle.
- Median incomes fell in real terms from the late 1980s to a low point in 1994 and rose steadily from then to 2008 at an average of 2.5 percent returning to its 1988 level by 2001.
- 7. In the two decades from 1988 to 2008 all income groups gained in real terms with the increases being proportionally greater for the higher income group. For example, in 1988 the household income (BHC) for those in the highest 20 percent income was 2.24 but by

1992 this had risen to 2.53, rising to 2.74 by 2004. It appears to have been steady at 2.59 in 2008.

- The Gini coefficient rose from 31.7 in 2007 to 33.0 in 2008 (BHC) and 36.8 to 39.1 (AHC) between 2007 to 2008.
- Large increases in inequality from the late 1980s to mid-1990s steadily continued to rise to 2004, with a decline following WFF to 2007.
- 10. From 2001 to 2008 median incomes rose strongly because of economic factors and increasing employment among two-parent families. From 2004 to 2008 the WFF package raised real incomes in households with below the median income. Housing costs were reduced for many low-income households from 2001 because of the income-related rents policy. From 2007 to 2008 housing costs rose for all income groups, especially low income groups.
- 11. The poverty rate using a 60 percent moving line measure (BHC) fell from 21 percent to 18 percent and remained at 18 percent in 2008. The WFF package redistribution of income was sufficient size to counter the upward impact on measured poverty rates for the rising median.
- 12. Using the more restrictive 50 percent moving line measure (BHC) shows a different trend

with a high proportion of households whose main source of income is from income-tested benefit or New Zealand Superannuation at the lower end of the income distribution. These incomes did not change greatly in real terms from 2004 to 2008 compared with an improvement in real terms for incomes of households with adults in paid employment.

- 13. With the 60 percent fixed line measure (AHC) the population poverty rate peaked at 23 percent in 1994, fell to 17 percent in 2004 and 13 percent in 2007.
- 14. Since the early 1990s there has been a clear gradient across age groups with poverty rates decreasing significantly as age increases. That is more marked for children and those younger.
- 15. A 60 percent fixed line measure (AHC) shows that the poverty rate for children in families with at least one adult in full-time paid work was 10 percent in 2008, down from 14 percent in 2004 and 20 percent in 1994.

- 16. For children in families with no paid employment the rate was 67 percent in 2008, down from 77 percent in 1994 and up from 60 percent in 2004 and 2007.
- 17. Children in sole parent households (52 percent in 2008) are always much higher than for those in two-parent households (13 percent), compared with 2001 where sole parents were 74 percent and two-parent households 21 percent. The peak was in 1994 with 76 percent for sole parent households and 29 percent for two-parent households.
- 18. Around one in three sole parent families live in wider households with other adults, and for these children there is a lower risk of being in poverty because of the wider resources available to them.
- 19. Children in households with three or more children are at higher risk of being in poverty, although the gap had narrowed in 2008 compared with 2001 and earlier.





©2010 Ngā Pae o te Māramatanga www.maramatanga.ac.nz